The Potential Effect of Los Angeles Basin Pollution on Grand Canyon Air Quality

by Gregory S. Poulos

Department of Atmospheric Science Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado

Roger A. Pielke, P.I.



Department of Atmospheric Science

Paper No. 490

THE POTENTIAL EFFECT OF LOS ANGELES BASIN POLLUTION ON GRAND CANYON AIR QUALITY

Gregory S. Poulos

Department of Atmospheric Science Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado Spring 1992

Atmospheric Science Paper No. 490

The funding for this secure was provided by the National Fark Service from a interagency Agreentent #0175-4-8003 with the National Oceanic and stun spheric Administration through Agreement #CM0200 000C-NOAA to the C operative Institute for Research in the Atmosphere (Project #5-31253).

and the Market Arthone Lott Angletes basis follows on Grand Laster State States

Garner & Park

Departane Foil An**mospherie Sciene** Unwarde Store Universay 21 - Collins, Unkazalo Spring 1942

•

The funding for this research was provided by the National Park Service through Interagency Agreement #0475-4-8003 with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration through Agreement #CM0200 DOC-NOAA to the Cooperative Institute for Research in the Atmosphere (Project #5-31253).

ABSTRACT

THE POTENTIAL EFFECT OF LOS ANGELES BASIN POLLUTION ON GRAND CANYON AIR QUALITY

This study presents a numerical investigation of air pollutant transport from the Los Angeles Basin to Grand Canyon National Park (GCNP). The Colorado State University Regional Atmospheric Modeling System (CSU-RAMS) is used to develop fields of different atmospheric variables. These fields are applied in a Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model (LPDM) to simulate the advection of pollutant particles. It is found that, indeed, under the somewhat idealistic, worst case, initial conditions presented, particles released from the Los Angeles Basin will impact the Grand Canyon but only in small amounts. By comparing a flat to complex terrain simulation, the importance of the terrain features between Los Angeles and GCNP to the dispersion of Los Angeles Basin pollutants is made obvious. Mountain barriers and undulating land reduce what could otherwise be a very serious pollutant impact on GCNP. Based on these results the conclusion is made that under the southwest flow conditions existing during the Winter Haze Intensive Tracer EXperiment (WHITEX) period of February 10-13, 1987 Los Angeles Basin pollution did not contribute significantly to visibility reduction in the Grand Canyon. This supports the WHITEX conclusion that the Navajo Generating Station (NGS) was the primary contributor during this period of poor haze conditions.

> Gregory S. Poulos Department of Atmospheric Science Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado 80523 Spring 1992

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Sincere gratitude is extended to Professor Roger A. Pielke for his thoughtful advising from beginning to end. In discussions throughout the development of this study, colleagues and many friends were also important including, Dr. Douglas A. Wesley, Mike Meyers, Dr. Melville E. Nicholls, Xubin Zeng, Scot Randell, and Mike Moran. In particular, I would single out Dr. Michael Weissbluth for his advice and role as a confidant. Finally, no greater thanks and appreciation can be shown than that for my Father and Mother whose inspiration, guidance, expectations, and love were by far the strongest motivation for this study. Thank you Dad and Mom. I would also like to extend my thanks to Bryan Critchfield, Tara Pielke, and Dallas McDonald for the preparation and typing of this thesis.

1) Some and the stand of the stand of the period of the Angelo Basic of the transmission of the transmission of the standard of the Angelo Basic of the transmission of the standard of the

Bregary 5. The co Department of the only of the Science Courses of the Colversity South of the Ado 89522 Marine of the

5 SUMEARS ANTICONCLUSION

a ventional V C 2

HEFDEEN (STER

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 BACKGROUND	8
2.1 The WHITEX Report	8
2.2 Long-range Transport	9
2.2.1 Definition	10
2.2.2 Global	10
2.2.3 United States	11
2.2.4 Southwest United States	11
2.2.5 Meteorological Effects	14
2.3 Southern California/Los Angeles Basin Pollution	20
2.3.1 Pollutant Sources	21
2.3.2 Pollutant Flows in the Los Angeles Basin	22
3 RAMS MODEL DESCRIPTION	28
3.1 General Description	28
3.2 RAMS Formulation and Options	29
3.2.1 Variables	30
3.2.2 Gridding System	30
3.2.3 Atmospheric Moisture	31
3.2.4 Radiation	31
3.2.5 Model Boundaries	32
3.2.6 Model Initialization	32
A STATIL'ADIONS AND DESILES	9 E
4 SIMULATIONS AND RESULTS	30
4.1 RAMS Model Simulations Overview	37
4.2 SW-1: Simulation Analysis	39
4.3.1 Meteorological Results: SW-1	39
4.3.2 LPDM Results: SWP-1	56
4.4 SW-2: Simulation Analysis	68
4.4.1 Meteorological Results	68
4.4.2 LPDM Results: SWP-2	93
4.5 SW-3: Simulation Analysis	104
4.5.1 Meteorological Results: SW-3	105
4.5.2 LPDM Results: SWP-3	27

5	SUMMARY	AND	CO	NC	CLI	US	IC	N	IS																					135
5.1	Summary .					•			÷	•	÷	•			•	÷				•		•		•		0		•		135
5.2	Conclusions				• •	•		٠	÷		÷	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	0	•	•	•	137
RF	FERENCES																												1	140

T*BLE G./ CONTENTS

20	

•

.

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Soundings for Page, Arizona during the WHITEX poor haze period in the Grand Canyon, February 10-13, 1987	4
1.2 1.3	Study region for Los Angeles pollutant flow to the Grand Canyon A contoured view of topography of the study region as used in RAMS simulations.	5 6
2.1 2.2	Major point sources of sulfur oxides in the Los Angeles Basin	21
2.3	geles Basin for 1972-1974	22
	ning Passes	26
3.1	An example of horizontally homogeneous initialization as actually used in the second 3-D, complex terrain simulation for this study.	33
4.1	A plan view of the gridding for SW-3.	36
4.2	Vertical cross section of vector wind across Grid 1 of SW-1 at (a) 0800Z, hour	
	20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24	40
4.2	(c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32	41
4.2	(e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40	42
4.2	(g) 0800Z, hour 44	43
4.3	Same as Figure 4.2 except for potential temperature, θ at (a) 0800Z, hour 20;	
	and (b) 1200Z, hour 24	44
4.3	(c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32. $\dots \dots \dots$	45
4.3	(e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40. $\dots \dots \dots$	46
4.3	(g) 0800Z, hour 44	47
4.4	Same as Figure 4.2 except the evolution of vertical velocity, w at (a) 08002,	40
	hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. $\dots \dots \dots$	48
4.4	(c) $1600Z$, hour 28; and (d) $2000Z$, hour 32	49
4.4	(e) 00002 , hour 36; and (f) 00402 , hour 40	00 E 1
4.4	(g) $0800Z$, hour 44	91
4.5	The evolution of horizontal vector winds over the 24-hour period 20 hours - 44	
	nours into the simulation in 4 nour intervals at (a) 08002, nour 20; and (b)	50
4 E	12002, hour 24	52
4.0	(c) 10002 , 100120 ; and (d) 20002 , 100132	54
4.0	(c) 08007 hour 44	55
4.6	Same as Figure 4.5 except for 1033.7 m above ground level at (a) 08007 hour	00
-1.0	20. and (b) 12007, hour 24	57
46	(c) 16007, hour 28: and (d) 20007, hour 32.	58
Lou		

4.6	(e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40	59
4.6	(g) 0800Z, hour 44	60
4.7	x - y particle position plots for SWP-1a from 1 to 54 hours at (a) 1300Z, hour	
	1; and (b) 2100Z, hour 9	62
4.7	(c) 0600Z, hour 18; and (d) 1500Z, hour 27	63
4.7	(e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0900Z, hour 45	64
4.7	(g) 1800Z, hour 54	65
4.8	Topography on Grid 2 for SW-2.	68
4.9	A vertical $x - z$ cross section of potential temperature, θ , for SW-2 at 120	
	km north of the domain center point transecting the Grand Canyon at (a)	
	0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24	69
4.9	(c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32	70
4.9	(e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40	71
4.9	(g) 0.800 hour 44; and (h) 2000Z, hour 8	72
4.10	A vertical $x - z$ cross section of potential temperature. θ , for SW-2 at 120 km	
	south of the domain center point transecting the Los Angeles Basin at (a)	
	0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24	73
4.10	(c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32	74
4.10	(e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40	75
4.10	(g) 0800Z, hour 44,	76
4.11	The location of the cross sections depicted in Figures 4.9 and 4.10.	77
4.12	The evolution of horizontal wind vectors on Grid 2 for SW-2 at 73.2 m above	
	ground level at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24	79
4.12	(c) 1600Z, hour 28: and (d) 2000Z, hour 32	80
4.12	(e) $0000Z$, hour 36; and (f) $0040Z$, hour 40,	81
4 12	(a) 0.0002 , hour 44	82
4 13	Same as Figure 4.12 except for 1033.7 m above ground level at (a) 0800Z, hour	-
1.10	20: and (b) 12007 hour 24	84
1 13	(c) 16007 hour 28: and (d) 20007 hour 32	85
1 13	(a) 00007 , hour 36; and (f) 00407 , hour 40	86
1 13	(c) 00002 , hour 50, and (r) 00102 , hour 10, r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r	87
1 14	The time evolution of vertical motion w for SW-2 at the Los Angeles Basin	
7.17	transect at (a) 0.8007 hour 20: and (b) 12007 hour 24.	89
4 14	(c) 1600Z hour 28: and (d) 2000Z hour 32.	90
4 14	(e) 10002 , hour 36; and (f) 10002 , hour 40.	91
4 14	(c) 00002 , hour 30, and (r) 00102 , hour 44.	92
4 15	The time evolution of particle transport from the LA Basin for SWP-2e from	
1.10	1 to 54 hours at (a) 13007 hour 1: and (b) 21007, hour 9.	94
1 15	(c) 06007 hour 18: and (d) 15007 hour 27.	95
1 15	(a) 00002 , hour 36; and (f) 09007 hour 45.	96
1 15	(a) 18007 , hour 54	97
1 16	The terrain used on Grid 3 of SW-3	104
1 17	The evolution of notential temperature from 20 to 44 hours of the simulation	
-T. I (in 4 hour increments on Grid 2 for SW-3 on the LA Basin transect at (a)	
	08007 hour 20: and (b) 12007 hour 24.	106
4 17	(c) 16007 hour 28: and (d) 20007 hour 32	107
4.17	(a) 00007 hour 36: and (f) 00407 hour 40	108
-r.11	(c) 00002, mour ou, and (r) 00102, mour to	

.

4.17 (g) 0800Z, hour 44
4.18 The same as Figure 4.17 but for Grid 3 through the LA Basin at (a) 0800Z,
hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24
4.18 (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32
4.18 (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40
4.18 (g) 0800Z, hour 44
4.19 Horizontal wind vectors on Grid 2 for SW-3 at 73.2 m at (a) 0800Z, hour 20;
and (b) 1200Z, hour 24
4.19 (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32
4.19 (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40
4.19 (g) 0800Z, hour 44
4.20 Vertical motion for SW-3 at +120 km on Grid 2 for hours 20 to 44 into the
simulation in 4 hour increments at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour
24
4.20 (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32
4.20 (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40
4.20 (g) 0800Z, hour 44
4.21 Vertical motion for SW-3 at -120 km on Grid 3 for hours 20 to 44 in 4 hour
increments at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. This passes
through the LA Basin and Banning Pass
4.21 (c) 1600Z, hour 28: and (d) 2000Z, hour 32
4.21 (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40, $\dots \dots \dots$
4.21 (g) 0800Z, hour 44
4.22 The time evolution of particle positions for SWP-3e from 1 to 54 hours at (a)
13007, hour 1: and (b) 21007, hour 9.
4.22 (c) 06007, hour 18: and (d) 15007, hour 27.
4.22 (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0900Z, hour 45.
4.22 (g) 18007, hour 54 132
(b) 10000, 1001 01

	LIST OF TABLES
2.1	Overview of air quality related aspects of five synoptic categories as applicable to the northern hemisphere (Pielke et al., 1984)
2.2	Emission rates in the South Coast Air Basin compared to those of California. 23
4.1	The sounding used to homogeneously initialize all of the RAMS simulations used in this study
4.2	Estimates of Los Angeles Basin pollutant impact on Grand Canyon National Park haze conditions during February 10-13, 1987 with differencing levels of dilution
5.1	A brief overview of the components and goals of the three meteorological sim- ulations used in this study

ide, tils ag se nor centif tilous a concerter affar and an ober and mantala satistiction, visitellity boat

"Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

energine States

It is a well known fact that industrialization in the United States has contributed to numerous environmental pollutant problems. Among the main effects of industrialization are concentration changes in carbon monoxide (CO), ozone (O₃), carbon dioxide (CO₂), sulfur dioxide (SO₂), and its cousin, sulfate (SO₄). These changes, in turn, have created public policy issues such as stratospheric ozone layer depletion, global warming, acid precipitation production, and visibility reduction. Visibility reduction is one of these issues which affects humans on a daily basis. Aesthetically pleasing views are compromised as extinction and absorption by particles and gases increase. Accordingly, the desire to reduce the amount of pollutants in the air grows as visibility continues to degrade. This desire has been expressed in legislation enacted by Congress (United States Congress, 1990).

National Parks and large Wilderness Areas are specifically protected by congressional action through this Federal legislation. Specifically, the law requires the prevention of significant deterioration (PSD) in such areas. Grand Canyon National Park is designated as one of these areas, called Class I regions. Indeed, the vistas at Grand Canyon National Park (GCNP) are among the most picturesque and aesthetically valuable in the United States National Park system. Given the slow reduction in visibility that has been occurring in the Grand Canyon region since the mid-1950's (Trijonis and Yan, 1978) and the recent dictate from Congress that visibility degradation be prevented (for instance, in Section 169A of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 where the national air quality goal for national parks is stated as, "the prevention of any future, and the remedying of any existing, impairment of visibility" – United States Congress, 1990), it is only natural to consider the sources of increased pollutant load to the Grand Canyon atmosphere. By identifying source contributions a concerted effort can be applied to reduce those sources and maintain satisfactory visibility levels.

In the late 1960's through mid-1970's the main man-made source of pollutants in GCNP was identified as copper smelters in southern Arizona (Trijonis, 1979). In the late 1970's and 1980's the focus of potential sources shifted to a recently built coal-fired power plant in northeast Arizona which became fully operational in 1976, the Navajo Generating Station, and southern California. Numerous studies have identified southern California including the Los Angeles Basin as a likely source of pollutants (Macias et al., 1981; Hering et al., 1981; Blumenthal et al., 1981; Miller et al., 1990; Ashbaugh, 1983; Yamada et al., 1989; Ashbaugh et al., 1984; Henmi and Bresch, 1985; and Malm et al., 1990). Studies have also found that the Navajo Generating Station (NGS), located 20 km from the northern boundary of the Grand Canyon near Page, Arizona, can be a large contributor to haze conditions (Malm et al., 1989; 1990). In one of these studies, as reported in the WHITEX Report (Winter Haze Intensive Tracer EXperiment: Malm et al., 1989, a tracer (CD₄, heavy methane) was released into the Navajo Generating Station emission plume eventually implicating it as a source. Conclusions could only be made with respect to the meteorological conditions existing during the WHITEX study period. Interestingly, despite their vast emission reductions since the 1960's, southern Arizona copper smelters continue to be cited for source contributions in the Grand Canyon area (Henmi and Bresch, 1985; Ashbaugh et al., 1984; and Nochumson, 1983).

Determining which of the three main identified sources: 1) the southern California/Los Angeles Basin; 2) the Navajo Generating Station; or 3) the southern Arizona copper smelter region, is responsible for Grand Canyon visibility degradation is complicated. It is most logical to expect, and current fieldwork suggests, that different meteorological conditions would cause different sources to be a favored contributor at different times. Source attribution is further complicated by smaller sources or lesser contributors in northern California, southwest Colorado, and northern Mexico. Loading of pollutants into the airstream prior to its passage over one of the three main sources can obscure a particular source's contribution. Power plants in northern Mexico are potentially significant because pollutant controls are virtually non-existent and are not required. Generally, the contribution from these sources is considered less either due to distance from the Grand Canyon, their smaller size, topographical barriers, or climatological meteorological conditions as supported in the WHITEX report conclusions (Malm et al., 1989).

In this study my goal is to prescribe a worst case condition representative of the poor haze period February 10-13, 1987 in the Grand Canyon in which meteorological flow through the Los Angeles Basin to the Grand Canyon during the winter season would be expected. Given this intention the Colorado State University Regional Atmospheric Modeling System (CSU-RAMS, hereafter referred to as RAMS) is used to simulate thermodynamic atmospheric conditions observed during the WHITEX period with an initially west-southwesterly (251°) wind throughout the depth of the model atmosphere. These simulated atmospheric conditions are used as input to a Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model (LPDM). The LPDM is set up with volumetric Los Angeles Basin pollutant fields. The pollutants are advected by the LPDM according to the fields input from RAMS. The WHITEX period had poor visibility periods in the Grand Canyon.

It is important to remember that the WHITEX study determined that the major contributor to WHITEX period haze was the Navajo Generating Station. This conclusion was based on concentration measurements at Grand Canyon sites of a unique tracer (CD_4) released in the NGS plume. Because of the high economic cost of pollutant control on coal-fired power plants, the WHITEX report conclusions were questioned (NAS, 1990). One reason the conclusions were questioned was because atmospheric soundings indicated strong, upper-level west-southwesterly flow (i.e. flow from the Los Angeles area toward Grand Canyon National Park) during the WHITEX period (10-13 February 1987, see Figure 1.1). Certainly, one would expect west-southwesterly flow aloft to transport air parcels from the southwest U.S. into the Grand Canyon region, but because the results of the unique tracer experiment WHITEX are so conclusive and the importance of low-level easterlies was ignored, the EPA has already decided to force the NGS to apply appropriate pollutant control technology (EPA, 1991a, b). These controls are intended to improve the visibility in the Grand Canyon such that PSD (Prevention of Significant Deterioration) requirements of the Clean Air Acts are not violated.

ALT	W	IND		nati bi	-		ALT	W.	LND		DIT	DDDD
MSL (M)	SPD M/S	DIR DEGR	(C)	RH PCT	(MB)		(M)	M/S	DIR DEGR	(C)	PCT	(MB)
1317	1.0	80.0	8.0	77.0	870	• f.r :	1317	3.0	45.0	10.5	77.0	871
1513	1.8	61.0	5.8	90.0	849		1475	2.2	92.0	9.3	77.0	854
1666	0.9	58.0	4.7	90.0	834		1651	1.5	155.0	8.4	76.0	836
1830	0.5	8.0	3.7	92.0	817		1804	1.9	248.0	7.1	77.0	821
1990	0.9	37.0	2.3	91.0	801		1967	5.4	294.0	6.5	74.0	805
2146	1.9	316.0	3.1	91.0	786		2124	5.1	283.0	5.6	74.0	790
2299	3.6	318.0	4.1	80.0	771		2272	6.9	278.0	4.7	74.0	775
2441	3.3	311.0	3.1	80.0	758		2417	7.5	278.0	3.6	73.0	762
2584	3.7	266.0	2.1	83.0	744		2557	9.9	280.0	2.4	69.0	749
2729	6.7	247.0	1.4	78.0	731		2698	8.2	277.0	1.4	69.0	736
2872	8.7	243.0	0.9	70.0	718		2837	11.9	278.0	0.4	65.0	723
3016	9.7	244.0	0.1	68.0	706		2971	10.5	269.0	-0.7	60.0	711
3171	11.1	245.0	-1.7	69.0	692		3112	10.2	277.0	-1.8	62.0	698
3323	11.4	246.0	-2.5	71.0	679		3181	10.1	272.0	-2.6	63.0	692
3485	12.3	246.0	-3.9	75.0	665							
3647	12.5	246.0	-5.6	84.0	652							
/M)	MIC	DECP	(C)	DOM								
(M)	M/ 5	ULGR			(MR)		(M)	MIC	DECD	101	DOT	/ME
				PCT	(MB)	-	(M)	M/S	DEGR	(C)	PCT	(MB
1317	1.0	220.0	8.1	87.0	(MB) 872		(M) 1317	M/S	DEGR 0.0	(C) 9.3	PCT 75.0	(MB 864
1317 1469	1.0	220.0	8.1 6.7	87.0 86.0	(MB) 872 856	- 1 16-	(M) 1317 1466	M/S 0.0 1.9	DEGR 0.0 69.0	(C) 9.3 7.1	PCT 75.0 86.0	(ME 864 848
1317 1469 1631	1.0 0.2 2.7	220.0 122.0 57.0	8.1 6.7 5.4	87.0 86.0 87.0	(MB) 872 856 839	6 737	(M) 1317 1466 1613	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833
1317 1469 1631 1781	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824	6 202	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 341.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0	(ME 864 848 833 819
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809		(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.4	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 341.0 275.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793	. 222 11. jt	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.4 6.2	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 341.0 275.0 220.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0 72.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0	87.0 86.0 92.0 91.0 91.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777	 6 737 	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 341.0 275.0 220.0 209.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0 72.0 78.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762	- 1 - 1 - 1 1 - 1 - 1 2 - 1 - 1	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 269	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 341.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0 72.0 78.0 82.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748	- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 2 - 1 - 1 -	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2434	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 241.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 88.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733		(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2002	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 241.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 88.0 91.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 91.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719	1 22 1 22 1 22 1 22 1 22 1 22 1 22 1 22	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 2122	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 73.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1 -1.4	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 91.0 90.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706	900 1	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1 -1.4 -2.7	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 91.0 90.0 90.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693	8497 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 201	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 247.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1 -1.4 -2.7 -4.0	87.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679	40.7 40.7 70.75 90.75 90.75	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 243.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 695
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341 3497	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3 3.3	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0 192.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1 -1.4 -2.7 -4.0 -5.2	87.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679 665	 	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 247.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 669
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341 3497 3645	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.3 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3 3.3 4.1	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0 192.0 205.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1 -1.4 -2.7 -4.0 -5.2 -6.3	87.0 86.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 90.0 89.0 89.0 89.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679 665 653	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 243.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 669
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341 3497 3645 3785	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3 3.3 4.1 3.6	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0 192.0 205.0 226.0	$ \begin{array}{c} (c) \\ 8.1 \\ 6.7 \\ 5.4 \\ 4.3 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.0 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.4 \\ 1.3 \\ 0.1 \\ -1.4 \\ -2.7 \\ -4.0 \\ -5.2 \\ -6.3 \\ -7.0 \\ \end{array} $	87.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679 665 653 641	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 243.0 244.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 669
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341 3497 3645 3785 3933	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3 3.3 4.1 3.6 3.4	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0 192.0 205.0 226.0 210.0	$ \begin{array}{c} (c) \\ 8.1 \\ 6.7 \\ 5.4 \\ 4.3 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.1 \\ 3.0 \\ 2.7 \\ 2.4 \\ 1.3 \\ 0.1 \\ -1.4 \\ -2.7 \\ -4.0 \\ -5.2 \\ -6.3 \\ -7.0 \\ -8.0 \\ \end{array} $	87.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 91.0 90.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 88.0 88.0	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679 665 653 641 629	102 102 102 102 102 102 102 102 102 102	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 243.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 699
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341 3497 3645 3785 3933 4092	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3 3.3 4.1 3.6 3.4 5.6	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0 192.0 205.0 226.0 210.0 217.0	$ \begin{array}{c} (c)\\ 8.1\\ 6.7\\ 5.4\\ 4.3\\ 3.1\\ 3.1\\ 3.0\\ 2.7\\ 2.4\\ 1.3\\ 0.1\\ -1.4\\ -2.7\\ -4.0\\ -5.2\\ -6.3\\ -7.0\\ -8.0\\ -9.2\\ \end{array} $	87.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 91.0 90.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 88.0 88.0 88	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679 665 653 641 629 616		(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.9 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 243.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 691
1317 1469 1631 1781 1932 2089 2252 2419 2569 2733 2880 3027 3179 3341 3497 3645 3785 3933 4092 4256	1.0 0.2 2.7 2.2 2.1 2.3 2.9 0.8 0.9 0.4 0.6 0.4 1.6 3.3 3.3 4.1 3.6 3.4 5.6 5.2	220.0 122.0 57.0 111.0 94.0 53.0 334.0 350.0 114.0 283.0 44.0 220.0 161.0 184.0 192.0 205.0 226.0 210.0 217.0 230.0	8.1 6.7 5.4 4.3 3.1 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.4 1.3 0.1 -1.4 -2.7 -4.0 -5.2 -6.3 -7.0 -8.0 -9.2 -10.4	87.0 87.0 92.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 91.0 85.0 84.0 91.0 90.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 89.0 88.0 88	(MB) 872 856 839 824 809 793 777 762 748 733 719 706 693 679 665 653 641 629 616 603	5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(M) 1317 1466 1613 1756 1915 2106 2269 2434 2602 2778 2962 3132 3307 3394	M/S 0.0 1.9 1.8 1.4 6.2 6.4 6.4 6.3 8.3 10.4 12.1 15.3 16.1	DEGR 0.0 69.0 58.0 241.0 275.0 220.0 209.0 215.0 224.0 238.0 243.0 243.0 247.0 254.0	(C) 9.3 7.1 6.4 7.4 6.6 6.0 4.8 3.4 1.9 0.6 -0.9 -2.3 -3.6 -4.2	PCT 75.0 86.0 89.0 75.0 72.0 78.0 82.0 82.0 88.0 91.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 90.0 89.0	(ME 864 848 833 819 803 785 769 754 738 722 706 691 676 699

Figure 1.1: Soundings for Page, Arizona during the poor haze period of February 10-13, 1987 at $\sim 1700Z$ each day. Note that flow aloft is from the southwest on average.

My intention is to help determine the significance of Los Angeles Basin pollution to haze problems in the Grand Canyon for a specific case. The domain for my study is depicted in Figures 1.2 and 1.3. Figure 1.2 depicts the study region from Los Angeles to



Figure 1.2: Study region for Los Angeles pollutant flow to the Grand Canyon. X's indicate large potential pollutant contributors to Grand Canyon visibility problems. X_1 – the Los Angeles Basin, X_2 – the Navajo Generating Station, and X_3 – the copper smelter region of southern Arizona (an average location for many sites). Adapted from Blumenthal et. al., 1981.

the Grand Canyon and surrounding areas. The three major pollutant source regions are encompassed within the study area: 1) the Los Angeles/southern California Basin; 2) the southern Arizona Copper smelters; and 3) the Navajo Generating Station. These regions are marked in a general sense by X's. Figure 1.3 depicts the RAMS model representation of the study region with topography (in 200 m contours) interpolated from a 10-minute gridded topography data set. Other details of modeling will be given in upcoming chapters.

For comparison, a total of three modeling runs are completed. The first encompasses the study region as depicted in Figure 1.3 and uses flat terrain. RAMS simulates 54 hours



sources and increased of the second of the Savajo Generating Station. These region

Figure 1.3: A contoured (200 m intervals) view of topography of the study region as used in RAMS simulations. The contouring is based on terrain heights at 72 km spaced grid points over the domain and is smoothed considerably.

of real-time atmospheric conditions with complex terrain. The second run has realistic terrain being otherwise the same as the first run. From the second model run insight will be gained into the importance of the actual terrain which exists between Los Angeles and the Grand Canyon to dispersion. RAMS model run three will also be very similar to run one, except that a finer grid nest is added around the Los Angeles Basin to better resolve mesoscale atmospheric flows and their importance to pollutant transport out of the Los Angeles Basin. A comparison between model runs two and three will be useful in determining the sensitivity of pollutant concentrations to better resolved mesoscale flows.

[37] EMES participants in the following neurophysics of the control of the following of the factors of the following of the factor of the factors of the

(Lys-denote these of fishers used on one production can be a choice of the construction of the fisher of the fisher of agence during force of a frame or of the fisher of the fisher

tslumie gast and one law on the net labor Chapter 2

BACKGROUND

2.1 The WHITEX Report

The Winter Haze Intensive Tracer EXperiment (WHITEX) was commissioned by SCENES participants to "address persistent questions about the nature and sources of winter haze conditions." By using various models, the extent to which Navajo Generating Station emissions could be linked to visibility impairment at the Grand Canyon, Canyonlands National Park, and Glen Canyon National Recreation Area was to be accessed. The four receptor modeling methods of attribution (described in Malm et al., 1990) are Tracer Mass Balance Regression, Chemical Mass Balance, Differential Mass Balance, and Deterministic Model Calculations.

The data for these different methods was gathered at various Four Corners area locations, including the Grand Canyon, during haze conditions in February, 1987. A unique tracer, heavy methane (CD₄), was released from within the NGS smokestack to attribute the power plant to a specific portion of Grand Canyon contaminants. CD₄ was released during an extremely poor air quality event, February 10-13, 1987. Using the above-mentioned techniques the Navajo Generating Station was strongly implicated as the major contributor during this episode. Four major reasons were cited by Malm et al. (1990) that cause the NGS to be a likely contributor, 1) the magnitude of emissions, 2) its proximity to the Grand Canyon, 3) the NGS and Grand Canyon lie in the same air basin and, 4) downslope drainage flows in this basin, if deep enough, would transfer NGS emissions directly into the Canyon. Specific estimates of NGS contribution to haze conditions at Hopi Point were generated by the various methods, ranging from 50% to 75%. In response to the WHITEX conclusions, the Salt River Project (SRP), part owner of NGS, commissioned studies of the methodology used in the WHITEX report. These studies questioned a number of WHITEX assumptions, including the assumption that lowlevel drainage flows were responsible for bringing NGS tracer/emissions into the Grand Canyon. They cited the existence of southwesterly flow aloft as a potential transport mechanism for Los Angeles Basin pollutants. Once transported to the Grand Canyon region, pollutants of southwest origin could be mixed into the Grand Canyon atmosphere in high amounts, they hypothesized.

The natural response to these allegations is that low-level drainage winds cannot be ignored since anthropogenic sources, such as the NGS plume, are released in lowlevels. Also, while Los Angeles has been implicated as a source to Grand Canyon haze in numerous summer studies, as will be shown in upcoming sections, very few winter studies exist with similar conclusions. So the question of wintertime Los Angeles Basin contribution to Grand Canyon haze conditions, particularly during the February 10-13, 1987 period, needs to be answered. This study endeavors to determine the extent of Los Angeles Basin pollution contribution to the Grand Canyon haze February 10-13, 1987 period.

This is done by the initialization of atmospheric conditions in the RAMS model with southwesterly flow toward the Grand Canyon. This condition, in the presence of flat terrain and no diurnal variations in the boundary layer structure, would be expected to result in the maximum impact of Los Angeles on GCNP. The actual conditions that existed during the February 10-13 period, however, had diurnal variations, mesoscale circulations, and synoptic flow spatial gradients which would enhance the dispersion of pollutants from Los Angeles prior to their arrival at the Canyon area. This study investigates the influence of the first two of these effects for February 10-13, 1987 WHITEX period.

2.2 Long-range Transport

Perhaps the most complete manner in which to describe previous work regarding the transport of pollutants from the Los Angeles Basin to Grand Canyon National Park is to

establish the concept of long-range transport. The straight line distance from Los Angeles to some of the most well-known views in the Grand Canyon in 600 km. Is there evidence that pollutants can be transported this far and still maintain significant concentrations? How strongly do meteorological conditions influence concentrations arriving at a distant location? The concept of pollutants traveling large distances in not a new one. In fact, the diffusivity of far-reaching plumes was noted by Richardson in 1922. Richardson (1922) states, "The smoke trails from cities have been observed by aviators to be hundreds of miles long. If aviators would also take note of the horizontal breadth of the trail at various distances from the source, and of the speed of the mean wind, it might be possible to extract a measure of the horizontal diffusivity." Despite these modestly early beginnings, the significance of the contributions of long-range sources has only been technically feasible to estimate in recent years. Given that pollutant transport occurs on all scales, global to micro-, how is long-range transport defined?

2.2.1 Definition

Answering this question requires posing another. What is long? In the literature, long-range transport is generally considered from meso- α to synoptic-scale, roughly 300 to 10,000 km. Under 300 km is medium-range and above 10,000 km is hemispheric or global transport. These boundaries are far from concrete however. Sisterson and Shannon (1979) investigate regional-scale transport from 100 km to several hundred kilometers. Meso- or medium-scale transport has been cited as the distance a plume travels in one day; distances beyond that, up to many thousands of kilometers, are considered long-range (Lyons et al., 1977). Long-range transport has also been defined to occur meteorologically when synoptic-scale winds dominate local circulations (Pielke et al., 1985). With a variety of definitions for long-range transport, consensus appears to exist between 300 and many thousands of kilometers. For the purposes of this study this definition is sufficient.

2.2.2 Global

The long-range transport of air pollutants is an environmental problem with global scope. Contamination from distant sources have been found in the Arctic from Western

Europe and Russia (Barrie et al., 1989; Trivett et al., 1988), in Europe from the Sahara Desert (D'Almeida, 1985), in Gibraltar from the Mt. St. Helens volcano eruption (Crabtree and Kitchen, 1984), in Europe from North America (Whelpdale et al., 1988), in Sweden from the U.S.S.R.'s Chernobyl nuclear power plant (Rodriguez, 1988; Persson et al., 1987), and along the Pacific Rim from coastal cities (Kotamarthi and Carmichael, 1990), among many other examples.

2.2.3 United States

In the U.S. long-range transport of air pollutants is also a problem. The Ohio River Valley is cited as a large contributor of sulfur to acid rain in Canada and the New England states (Mohnen, 1988). The long-range transport of SO_4^{2-} can have severe effects on alpine vegetation (Lovett and Kinsman, 1990). The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has investigated these problems in the National Acid Precipitation Assessment Program (NAPAP, 1985; Sisterson et al., 1990). The transport of herbicides from aerial application to wheat fields tens of miles away has been found in south-central grape growing regions of Washington state (Reisinger and Robinson, 1976). Plumes of pollutants from the central mid-west have been observed in the Great Plains, and, in a unique case meteorologically where a strong cyclone over the midwestern U.S. circulated pollutants westward, at the Pacific Coast of the U.S. (Bresch and Reiter, 1987; and Hall et al., 1973).

2.2.4 Southwest United States

Most important to this study is evidence of long-range transport of pollutants from southern California to northern Arizona. As discussed earlier, visibility reduction over time in the Grand Canyon has led to numerous studies in the California-Arizona corridor. As will be shown in the upcoming discussion these studies' conclusions, in most cases, have generally found southern California or the Los Angeles Basin to be responsible for some of the decrease in visibility at the Grand Canyon. These studies were neither long term, nor did they cover a wide range of meteorological conditions and seasons. For this reason, the only valid conclusion must be case study oriented. As detailed in the following

is another which the sparring environments of a pre-

several paragraphs, with respect to the reduced visibility, the source responsible for the degradation differs with varying synoptic and mesoscale flows.

This conclusion is readily supported by a number of studies worldwide (Scholdager et al., 1978) and in the United States. Henmi and Bresch (1985) found, by trajectory and statistical analysis, that southerly flow encourages the transport of copper smelter sulfur compounds to the Grand Canyon. This was supported by backward trajectories of the ARL-ATAD model. This conclusion is reinforced by sulfate level changes during the 1980 copper smelter strike. During this period, the summer of 1980, sulfate levels at sites 100 to 600 km from the smelter region dropped to half their typical levels (Eldred et al., 1983). Summer average resultant vector winds were southerly. Some measure of the seasonal variation of the copper smelter contribution to visibility degradation in the Grand Canyon is reported by Nochumson and Williams (1984). It was found that with production curtailment on the smelters during adverse meteorological conditions for dispersion the percent extra extinction is 71.1% in Autumn compared with 14.2% in the Spring at the Grand Canyon. Perhaps climatological differences in wind direction by season play a crucial role in the seasonally varying contribution.

Evidence that the copper smelter influence may be directly linked to flow conditions is found in Blumenthal et al. (1981) based on data taken during the summer of 1979. Their research was associated with the EPA project Visibility Impairment due to Sulfur Transport and Transformation in the Atmosphere (VISTTA) and is quite thorough. They state, "During the study, no strong evidence was seen of the copper smelters in southern Arizona. The sampling periods occurred, however, during times when prevailing flow was more westerly than southerly.... The greatest causes of visibility impairment ...were...due... to: (1) Long-range transport from the southern California area, 800 km away, (2) Wildfires."

Project VISTTA is just one of several large-scale pollutant/visibility studies completed in the southwest. Several of these studies confirm southern California as a major contributor to reducing visual range in the Four Corners region. Using the CAPITA Monte Carlo model, which transports emissions in quantized units, advected horizontally within one well-mixed layer, Macias et al. (1981) concluded that a significant impact on southwestern visibility came from southern California. Pollutant guiding winds were supplied by surface wind observations (multiplied by a factor of 2.5 and veered by 20°). With these somewhat unrealistic model constraints, however, the importance of the Navajo Generation Station (NGS) as a source was downplayed.

The use of enrichment factors of background air elemental compositions can also be used to identify sources. Hering et al. (1981) analyze VISTTA species data to determine that during poor visibility the southwest's air is enriched by compounds most likely generated in the Los Angeles Basin. Their conclusions are supported by independent trajectory calculations during the summer of 1979.

The Western Fine Particle Network (WFPN) supplied particle data from August 1979 through September 1981 in the southwest. Ashbaugh (1983) organized a number of trajectories based on this data using a mixed layer trajectory model. He concluded that high sulfur loading episodes in the Grand Canyon are associated with *slow* transport from southern California. Interestingly, *strong* southwesterly flow from southern California was associated with low sulfur concentrations.

Another large southwestern U.S.-oriented study was SCENES (Sub-regional Cooperative Electric Utility, Department of Defense, National Park Service, and Environmental Protection Agency Study on Visibility). Yamada et al. (1989) used early October wind measurements of SCENES to 'nudge' model winds toward actual winds by a 4DDA (Fourdimensional data assimilation) technique. Under stagnant high-pressure conditions, pollutants released from downtown Los Angeles into the 'nudged' wind field did not reach the Grand Canyon in 48 hours (although the plume was approaching). Under the influence of a weak cold front and geostrophic flow from the west, pollutants were able to reach the Grand Canyon in less than 24 hours. Yamada et al. (1989) were able to show the importance of resolving mesoscale flows versus the inadequacy of simply resolving synoptic flows. The authors suggest that, for further resolution, a nested-grid model be used to study this problem. RAMS is such a model.

Many remote areas in the western U.S. are located in the area surrounding the Four Corners region. The Four Corners is the point of state border intersection of Utah, Colorado, New Mexico, and Arizona. Malm et al. (1990) found that major sources contributing to fine sulfur throughout the year were southern California, northeastern Mexico, and coal-fired power plants, such as the Navajo Generating Station. They used two methods in their determination: 1) area of influence analysis (using persistence of endpoints of back trajectories); and 2) principal component analysis (examining spatial eigenvector gradients of fine sulfur concentration). That sources well outside the Four Corners area contribute significantly to degrade local air quality throughout the year is supported by Nochumson (1983) in his discussion of the Four Corners study. Without quantifying his statement, Nochumson concludes, "Extra-regional aerosols were estimated to contribute substantially to the aerosol concentration and light scattering in the study region." ('study region' refers to the Four Corners study region). Both urban centers and southern Arizona copper smelters were considered extra-regional.

Long-range transport of air pollutants is important with respect to air quality around the globe. Depending on meteorology, often simply from which direction the wind blows, the major contributor(s) to a location's air quality may change. Our review above shows the Grand Canyon to be a prime example of such a case. In this section the WHITEX study is that the Navajo Generating Station (NGS) is within 300 km of most major vistas in Grand Canyon National Park (GCNP) making it a medium- or short-range source, thus not appropriate for discussion here.

2.2.5 Meteorological Effects

Having reviewed the extent to which long-range transport occurs around the U.S. and the world and some of the different modeling approaches, it is logical to wonder how atmospheric flows affect this transport. One might expect that the large-scale synoptic flow fields existing in the same vertical layer as a particular pollutant would influence its long-range transport entirely; however, as is discussed below, mesoscale motions are significant and can dominate pollutant movement.

Synoptic Effects

Horizontal wind fields created by synoptic-scale pressure gradients are perhaps the most important factor determining the direction of pollutant flow. Synoptic vertical motions are generally week but are very important in determining at what level pollutants will travel. Indeed, some measure of this velocity is necessary in every existing long-range transport model. Among others described in the modeling subsection, Pudykiewicz et al. (1985) report the use of wind velocity output by a meteorological forecast model as input into a large-scale, long-range transport model. Their system is developed with a horizontal resolution of 100 km; a resolution too coarse to resolve large vertical motions.

Horizontal, large-scale winds are generated by synoptic conditions existing in the region of interest. Typically, the horizontal wind field can be determined by use of isobaric analysis and the gradient wind approximation based on synoptic weather maps. In some cases, such as described in Artz et al. (1985), pollutant trajectories can be calculated along isentropic (lines of constant potential temperature) surfaces on the synoptic scale. This methodology contains synoptic vertical motions inherently, allowing more accurate pollutant trajectories to be calculated in the vicinity of synoptic fronts where such motions are frequent. Poor air quality episodes are linked both to low and high pressure systems. Thermal lows, low pressure cyclonic circulations associated with very warm temperatures that reside in the lower layers of the troposphere (depending on their strength), have been cited as an integral synoptic contributor to air pollution periods in Japan, on the Iberia Peninsula, and in the southwestern U.S. (Kurita et al., 1985; Kurita et al., 1990; Kurita and Ueda, 1986; and Millán et al., 1991). Three main factors contribute to the thermal low's association with poor air quality: (i) above this shallow form of low pressure often resides a subsident high pressure which confines pollutants vertical transport; (ii) the conditions in which thermal lows develop are typically warm and with intense solar radiation, a scenario conducive to photochemical oxidant production; and (iii) because thermal lows are often persistent features unfavorable flows associated with them can continue for long periods.

Other synoptic features are noted for their significance to long-range transport. Poor air quality is often associated with high pressure stagnation (van Dop et al., 1987; Hall et al., 1973; and Malm et al., 1989). Bresch and Reiter (1987) examine the flow fields around an intense cyclone in the midwestern U.S. associated with unusually high sulfur concentrations at the Pacific Coast. Yamada et al. (1989) relate specific synoptics of a cold front in the southwestern U.S. to significant transport from southern California to northern Arizona. Pack et al. (1978) note that large transport computational errors can occur if warm and cold air advection processes are ignored. An appropriate model of long-range transport should then be able to resolve important synoptic frontal features such as advection.

The general nature of dispersion based on a location relative to a synoptic cold/warm frontal system typical of the mid-latitudes was developed by Pielke et al. (1984). Based on the synoptic classification scheme of Lindsey (1980), Pielke et al. (1984) characterized different synoptic types. Table 2.1 summarizes the air quality aspects by synoptic type.

Note that the WHITEX period was dominated by Category 4 conditions, including the February 10-13, 1987 period. As shown in the Table, transport would be expected to be local in nature, ventilation would be poor and, among other mesoscale flows, mountain-valley (i.e. drainage) flows would dominate. An example of mesoscale flows being significant under this condition is made evident in Yu and Pielke (1986). They found the trapping and recirculative flows in the Lake Powell Basin in polar high (Category 4) conditions are such that local sources are quite likely to create poor air quality.

That synoptic-scale flows can influence or be influenced by mesoscale flows depending on their relative strength as was pointed out in a modeling study by Ulrickson and Mass (1990). To what extent do mesoscale flows effect long-range pollutant transport?

Mesoscale Effects

While a pollutant plume is transported in a general sense by the synoptic wind, a number of smaller scale meteorological interactions may be encountered along any transport route. Examples of such interactions on the mesoscale are:

Verlations in Number Carve Seld

isson is stall and in real box i

Table 2.1: Overview of air quality related aspects of five synoptic categories as applicable to the northern hemisphere (Pielke et al., 1984).

Category character- istics	Category 1	2	3	4	14-01 ,5
Category class	mT; in the warm sector of an extra- tropical cyclone	mT/cP, mT/cA, mP/cA; ahead of the warm front in the region of	cP, cA; behind the cold front in the region of cyc- lonic curvature to	cP, cA; under a polar high in a region of anticyc- lonic curvature to the surface	mT; in the vicin- ity and west of a subtropical ridge
		at the surface	the surface isobars	the surface	
Surface winds	Brisk SW surface winds	Light to moderate SE to ENE sur- tace winds	Strong NE to W surface winds	Light and variable winds	Light SE to SW winds
Vertical motion	Weakening syn- optic descent as the cold front	Synoptic ascent due to warm advec- tion and positive	Synoptic ascent due to positive vor- ticity advection	Synoptic descent (due to warm advection and/or	Synoptic subsid- ence (descending branch of the
	approaches	aloft	aloft (in this region this ascent more than compensates for the descent due	advection aloft)	Becomes strong as you approach the ridge axis
Inversion	Weak synoptic sub- sidence inversion caps planetary boundary layer	Boundary layer capped by frontal inversion	to cold advection) Deep planetary boundary layer	Synoptic subsid- ence inversion and/or warm ad- vection aloft create	Synoptic subsid- ence inversion
		n of the file of		an inversion which caps the planetary boundary layer	
Dominant mesoscale systems	Squall lines	Embedded lines of convection	Forced airflow over rough terrain sys- tems: lake effect	Mountain-valley flows; land-sea breezes; urban cir-	Mountain-valley flows; land-sea
5,5161115			storms	culations (ther- mally-forced sys- tems)	culations (ther- mally-forced sys- tems)
Ventilation	Moderate to good ventilation	Poor ventilation of low level (i.e. be- low frontal invers- ion) emissions	Excellent venti- lation	Night or snow- covered ground: poor ventilation; day: poor to moder- ate ventilation	Day: moderate to good ventilation; night: moderate to poor ventilation
Deposition	Dry deposition	Dominated by wet	Dry deposition	Dry deposition	Dry deposition
	except wet depo- sition in showers	deposition	except in showers		except wet depo- sition in showers and thunderstorms
Transport	Long range	Long range above inversion	Long range	More local as you approach the	More local as you approach the
				high	tropical high

i sant maan angeel of modulos wat dissiliku an wilanaan in sant mogger matalos wat dissiliku an matalos angelang maggerana angelang matalos angelang maggerana

1. Variations in boundary layer height.

2. Land/sea or land/lake breeze.

- 3. Mountain-valley flows.
- 4. Interception by terrain features.
- 5. Local wind shear.

among others. When large-scale, quasi-horizontal flow encounters these smaller scale meteorological phenomena long-range transport can be significantly affected. As an example, along the pathway from the Los Angeles Basin to the Grand Canyon, a pollutant plume under the influence of west-southwesterly flow might be affected by the land/sea breeze circulation in Los Angeles, low boundary layer heights and katabatic wind flows near the Santa Anna mountains 25 km inland, terrain-forcing as the plume intercepts the mountain, strong vertical motions from mountainside solar heating, mountain waves as the plume travels over the mountains, a deep, turbulent boundary layer in the desert, rapidly changing surface vegetation as the desert turns into the forests, and further complex terrain and boundary layer interactions in the Grand Canyon region.

Obviously, a volume of pollutants affected by such phenomena will not be uniformly transported such as a strict horizontal Gaussian approximation might suggest. Blondin (1984) states, "Whatever the strategy of environmental protection may be, one must deal correctly with the atmospheric phase of pollutant cycles and so try to understand and take into account the meteorology involved...". This statement by Blondin emphasizes what researchers have been gradually finding to be true that multiple scales of meteorological phenomena are important to large-scale pollutant transport.

Many mesoscale circulations contain strong, local vertical motions. Martin et al. (1987) specifically investigated the importance of vertical motions to the pollutant transport problem. Their study suggests that the vertical wind component, albeit synoptic in their cases, should be used to determine realistic pollutant transport in the free troposphere. Their result is supported on smaller scales by a number of studies such as Smith and Hunt (1978), Fisher (1984), van Dop et al. (1987), Blondin (1981), Ulrickson and Mass (1990a,b), Stocker and Pielke et al. (1987), Sisterson (1979), Pielke et al. (1987), and Scholtz (1986). The vertical component of the vector wind, w, transports pollutants vertically. This obvious statement suggests that the notion of using only quasi-horizontal winds in long-range transport contains a basic flaw when not including stronger mesoscale vertical advection. In this case, vertical transport is often limited to parameterized vertical diffusion or small, synoptic scale . A particle in the no-vertical-wind environment would be incorrectly positioned in the vertical. This, in turn, would subject the particle to improper layer winds.

In many long-range transport models the planetary boundary layer (PBL, or atmospheric boundary layer, ABL) is a constant height. The height of the PBL is often called the mixing height. Ulrickson and Mass (1990a) and Fisher (1983) discuss this terminology. Through the diurnal cycle the boundary layer normally changes height with time. Typically, the mixing height is lowest overnight and grows during the daylight hours. Of course, the extent to which the boundary layer changes depends on atmospheric conditions. Often it is not accurate to model pollutant transport on large scales using the constant boundary layer height assumption. The evolution of the boundary layer and its significance to pollutant transport is discussed by van Dop and de Haan (1984), Reiff et al. (1987), and Pudykiewicz et al. (1985).

Within the planetary boundary layer numerous other mesoscale effects also exist. The fate of a particle in the atmosphere with respect to long-range transport can depend on recirculation. Land/sea breezes have been noted for their ability to capture pollution within the circulation over many days (Cass and Shair, 1980; Lyons et al., 1990c). After accumulating, these pollutants can be injected by strong upward vertical motions along strongly heated mountain sides into higher atmospheric layers. Once above the boundary layer the pollutants can participate in long-range transport. A coherent discussion of this mechanism can be found in Millán et al. (1990). The existence of land/lake breezes has also been found to effect pollutant transport (Lyons et al., 1990a,b). Circulations similar to land/sea/lake breezes have also been found over land where the landscape varies greatly

(i.e. vegetation-bare ground, irrigated-non-irrigated, snow-covered-not snow-covered). Such differences create a 'landscape variability' or physiographic breeze which can greatly effect the dispersive nature of pollutants (Pielke et al., 1991). In order to simulate longrange pollutant transport from Los Angeles to the Grand Canyon, not only is a model capable of such simulations necessary, but also knowledge of the source region.

2.3 Southern California/Los Angeles Basin Pollution

In the previous section the topic of long-range transport was reviewed because this mechanism would be responsible for the transport of Los Angeles pollution to the Grand Canyon. The investigation of this transport problem also requires an understanding of the sources and meteorological processes active in the Los Angeles Basin. Because of the publicity and severity of the pollution problems in Los Angeles numerous studies have been completed in the region. To list some of the major studies:

1. Hidy et al. (1975 - The Aerosol Characterization Experiment - ACHEX).

- 2. Feigley and Jeffries (1979 The Los Angeles Reactive Pollutant Program LARPP).
- Wakimoto and Wurtele (1984 Basic studies on Airflow, Smog, and the Inversion BASIN).
- 4. Rogers and Bastable (1989 The Greater Los Angeles Distant Impact Study GLADIS).

5. Sonoma (1986 – The Southern California Air Quality Study – SCAQS).

This immense amount of studies combined with the literally hundreds of other authored studies (Sonoma, 1986) makes the Los Angeles Basin/southern California region the most studied pollution problem in the world. Given this vast data source only information particularly relevant to this study will be overviewed.

2.3.1 Pollutant Sources

Within the Los Angeles Basin numerous source types emit sulfur oxides. In Figure 2.1 Cass and and Shair (1980) pinpoint the most significant point sources. Of course, other large sources of nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, O_3 , and less voluminous pollutants exist as well. While industrial sources may individually contribute the largest amounts,



Figure 2.1: Major point sources of sulfur oxides in the Los Angeles Basin (Cass and Shair, 1980).

the sum of many small point sources, cars and other transportation, also is a large factor in pollutant totals (see Figure 2.2). Taken as a whole, these sources combine into a large volume source bounded (taken loosely) by the Pacific Coast and mountain ranges within the Los Padres, Los Angeles, and San Bernardino National Forests. This volume of pollutants is subject to the meteorological processes affecting long-range transport.





The SCAQS Program plan (Sonoma, 1986) reviews the major pollutant constituents of the Los Angeles Basin atmosphere based on a 1979 emissions inventory. Their figures are a decade out of date in magnitude but one expects the percentages they represent to be roughly accurate today. Table 2.2 presents data adapted from the Sonoma (1986) report. Although in 1979 the region represented by these figures was only 4% of California's land area, it emitted between 25% and 35% of all but primary particle pollutants. Note that on-road vehicles contribute significantly in all categories, and in a large part to reactive organic gases, carbon monoxide, and nitrogen oxides. Fuel combustion dominates sources of sulfur oxides. Also evident from Table 2.2 is the largely invariant nature of Los Angeles

Basin pollutant levels from summer to winter.

2.3.2 Pollutant Flows in the Los Angeles Basin

The pollutant sources summarized in the previous section are subject to complex meteorological interactions when residing in the Los Angeles Basin and surrounding areas. Given the size of the basin such interactions are considered mesoscale. Although the RAMS model was not used to simulate all the flows that are described here, because it Table 2.2: Emission rates in the South Coast Air Basin compared to those of California. Emission rates in tons/day based on one year of emissions. Data from ARB (1982) and Grisinger et al. (1982). TOG and ROG in equivalent weights of CH_4 , NO, in equivalent weights of NO_2 , SO_X in equivalent weights of SO_2 , and TEP containing all particles less than $\approx 50 \ \mu m$.

Emissions Source Categories	Location	Total Organic Gases (TOG)	Reactive Organic Gases (ROG)	Carbon Monoxide (CO)	Nitrogen Oxides (NO _X)	Sulfur Oxides (SO _X) (TEP)	Total Emitted Particles
9092 15 2951 ET90E	Collection (1	s ni . rø	ring the v	ob ritita	e terupi	surfa
<u>Fuel Combustion</u>	SOCAB California	55.3 149.8	26.2 74.5	110.2 370.0	371.6 1168.5	114.1 559.1	32.7 121.1
Waste Burning	SOCAB	0.3	0.1	1.5	0.3	3.4	0.4
un i l'ada i al	California	99.1	45.7	931.4	5.6	7.3	100.5
Solvent Use	SOCAB	371.8	340.0	0.3	0.5	0.0	2.7
la ng an tanàn mina	California	863.7	787.3	0.3	0.5	0.0	wolla 2.8
Petroleum Processing,	SOCAB	466.3	179.8	15.5	13.2	57.0	3.1
Transfer & Storage	California	1432.6	863.8	109.0	28.0	117.0	14.4
Industrial Processes	SOCAB	26.6	22.3	171.1	9.9	16.0	32.6
Moriel De Xin	California	122.1	86.5	506.8	28.9	124.0	188.6
Misc. Processes	SOCAB	1888.3	122.3	289.3	10.3	0.5	445.5
	California	3052.2	447.9	555.8	61.7	4.7	4855.8
On-Road Vehicles	SOCAB	806.5	753.7	5747.0	723.2	47.7	82.5
ed to set of a constant	California	1911.2	1786.5	13034.9	1824.9	110.7	201.0
Other Mobile	SOCAB	74.7	71.1	431.8	109.0	25.8	7.1
Sources	California	311.4	299.5	1632.3	2252.4	189.6	249.6
All Sources	SOCAB	3689.8	1515.6	6766.6	1238.1	254.5	606.6
(annual)	California	7942.1	4391.6	17140.3	3545.7	1001.7	5532.8
All Sources (summer weekday)	SOCAB	n∔ la∻	1697.0	6430.0	1335.0	274.2	660.0
All Sources	SOCAB	(n 8179/15	1560.0	6839.0	1359.0	314.0	559.0
(winter weekday)	ndeed, and	U villio st	a spinerio e	m. s of us!	ales in rela	nitoli ai .	dept
Uncertainty	SOCAB	Alta Las	±10%	±16%	±11%	±9%	±19

property (1. The day (0. to writch this hyper to breach or the most mean of the day volume spirit, The day (0. to the day volume spirit, when a diverte solution of the second day of the solution of the second day of the solution from any method or the solution of the second day of the solution from any method or the solution of the second day of the solution of the solution of the solution of the solution of the second day of the solution of

was applied to a specific winter period, it is prudent to be aware of the various possible effects on pollutant flow from the Los Angeles Basin.

In a general sense, the Los Angeles Basin, with its coastal location and nearby mountainous terrain, contains all the 'ingredients' for complex pollutant flows. Perhaps the most obvious is the land/sea breeze cycle generated by diurnal thermal contrasts. The sea temperature off the coast of California near Los Angeles varies much less than the land surface temperature during the year. In summer, the land temperatures are generally much higher than the sea temperatures during mid-day creating a strong sea breeze (Cass and Shair, 1980). At night the land temperature does not become much less than the ocean temperature causing a weak to non-existent land breeze (from the land to the sea) allowing katabatic flows to become significant. In winter, when daytime land temperatures are much lower, the sea breeze is correspondingly weaker, whereas land breeze effects at night ventilate more strongly (Sonoma, 1986). Ulrickson and Mass (1990a) present results showing the ability of the Colorado State University Mesoscale Model (a less advanced, precursor of RAMS) to simulate such diurnal variations. They found that while some model shortcomings existed, for the most part, it performed well. The land/sea breeze circulation has been cited for its contribution to the accumulation of sulfates over numerous days. Cass and Shair (1980) call this effect sloshing and note the inappropriateness of Gaussian calculations under such conditions.

The variation and magnitude of the stability of the Los Angeles Basin atmosphere can also drastically affect pollutant conditions. The diurnal variation of the mixing depth was discussed in the section on mesoscale effects on long-range transport. The mixing depth is intimately related to atmospheric stability. Indeed, as the typical morning stable layer erodes or is lifted by processes associated with solar isolation, the mixed layer forms beneath it. The depth to which this layer evolves, for the most part, determines the volume within which city-wide pollutants will be trapped. Further variations in mixing depth are forced by the transition from marine to land surface or somewhat flat to irregular, mountainous terrain. Rogers and Bastable (1989) note stability changes as significant to pollutant transport. They found that pollutants from the Los Angeles Basin could be
injected into elevated stable layers when transported to the California-Nevada-Arizona border. Regarding the diurnal atmospheric stability cycle Bastable et al. (1990) state (for summer conditions), "A diurnal cycle is observed with unstable air ($R_i < 0.25$) during the morning and early afternoon, followed by long stable ($R_i > 0.25$) periods at night." R_i refers to the bulk Richardson number. Bastable et al. (1990) note that the residence time for an air parcel in the Los Angeles Basin was about 6 hours during the daytime, unstable period and as much as 14 hours if overnight. By what routes and processes might a pollutant contaminated parcel exit the Los Angeles Basin?

The main barriers to outflow from the Los Angeles Basin are mountains and the capping inversion. Given the height of the surrounding mountains (often greater than 3 kilometers) it is unlikely that the boundary layer/mixing height will exceed the barrier height on any day, especially in low isolation periods (i.e. winter). Pollutants are then subject to escape from the Los Angeles Basin by effects that either force air over the mountains or channel air through lower portions of the terrain such as passes or valleys. Also, unblocked westward routes to the ocean from the Los Angeles Basin exist. These rate are significant during the development of a land-breeze, but since this investigation concentrates on eastward pollutant pathways and movement, the westward routes are only significant when pollutants that have moved westward later move eastward. This west/east circulation is possible within the land/sea breeze cycle.

Smith et al. (1984) plot the dominant convergence zones in the Southern California Air Basin. At a convergence zone near or at the surface, winds are forced together causing upward motion. This vertical motion transports air parcels upward potentially above the planetary boundary layer. Once aloft, pollutants are subject to large-scale, often stronger, winds in which they can be more easily transported from the Los Angeles Basin. Such convergence zones were modeled by Ulrickson and Mass (1990a).

A process somewhat similar to convergence zone evacuation can occur as air impinges on mountain barriers. A west wind containing polluted air is forced upward or channelled by the mountains. McElroy (1987) with airborne lidar, Bastable et al. (1990) with surface and upper air meteorological measurements, Ulrickson and Mass (1990a,b) in a modeling study, and Grant (1981) an airborne laser absorption spectrometer all confirm that such flows are significant to transporting pollutants from the Los Angeles Basin. Figure 2.3 (McElroy, 1987) displays the relative 'flushing or removal' efficiencies of the eastern Los Angeles Basin barriers. It is obvious from the low efficiencies associated with the mountain



Figure 2.3: Estimates of air pollutant transport efficiency over the slopes of the San Gabriel, San Bernardino, and San Jacinto Mountains and through Cajon and Banning Passes (McElroy, 1987). Values enclosed by boxes represent passes, bold numbers represent 'efficiencies' to the lee side of the particular barrier.

areas that preferred transport routes are Cajon and Banning passes. These values were calculated based on the ratio of the integrated lidar backscatter upwind of a barrier or pass to the backscatter within or to the lee side of the barrier or pass. McElroy considers these percentages indicative of the relative amount of pollutant mass able to be transported via individual potential transport routes.

The flushing of pollutants along mountain sides can quite often be either supplemented by or completely driven by thermal flows. Because of the orientation of incoming sunlight, to the south-facing slopes of mountains receive greater insolation during the day in comparison to flat terrain. Subsequently, the mountains tend to warm more quickly than flat regions. The sensible heating of the lowest layer of air creates a warmer parcel beneath cooler air just above. The occurrence of this sensible heating process along the whole mountainside combines to generate thermally-driven upslope flow. Pollutants are transported from the lowest layers near the base of the mountain to upper levels. Such strong upslope winds can inject pollutants high enough to be transported over the mountains or at least through the passes. Smith et al. (1984) noted that such flows were among the most important flushing mechanisms from the Los Angeles Basin. Segal et al. (1985) reiterate this result in a modeling study centered on south-central California. They state, "Estimates of vertical motion associated with these features (referring to sea/land breeze and mountain-valley convergence zones) must be obtained so that the potential for venting of pollution can be evaluated." That Segal et al. (1985) could use a less-complicated precursor to RAMS to accurately, numerically model the Los Angeles region's complex flow field is encouraging.

et d., 1985, Mus. complete overviews of telef8 can be reach a combinet of the op-Conton of all (1983), and "telefa a and Welke 1990, carrier of the conthe RAME formulation nave made a created with the reacting life of the constraint The arctics based in this study, the main teleform of the constraint for a study of the RAME 20.

A multiply of features make 8 MiS as a conflict moder control to the control of A concerns as dard include RAMI care we transferred to that the approximation of the formula of the concomposed of 19 Gasic methods and 15 Galacy more and the stables of the structure rain one desires (by frostation of the formula to the stables) more as the control of mitialization, and) differed to the formula of the control of the stables of the stable initialization, and) differed to the formula of the control of the stables of the stable calmid light the state of the MSL frame with the control of the stables of the stables initialization of the the tark of the MSL frame with the control of the stables of the stables of the state of the state of the MSL frame with the stable of the stables of the stables of the state of the state of the tark of the stables of the stables of the stables of the stables of the state of the stables of the state of the state

and guode and the second RAMS MODEL DESCRIPTION

3.1 General Description

distance of the second substance of Chapter 3 and

RAMS is the model chosen for this study. Its' code has been developed to be very flexible, generating atmospheric variables from cloud to base state variable scales from hundreds of meters to thousands of kilometers. RAMS has been used for applications from turbulent eddy flows around building structures to synoptic flow fields, and from subtropical thunderstorms to mid-western U.S. tornadoes.

The most current version of RAMS was conceived by the unification of a nonhydrostatic cloud model and two hydrostatic, mesoscale models at Colorado State University (Cotton et al., 1982; Tripoli and Cotton, 1980, 1982, 1989; Pielke, 1974; Mahrer and Pielke, 1977; McNider and Pielke, 1981; McCumber and Pielke, 1981; and Tremback et al., 1985). More complete overviews of RAMS can be found in Tremback et al. (1986), Cotton et al. (1988), and Tremback and Walko (1991). Subsequent improvements to the RAMS formulation have made a breakdown of the existing RAMS versions necessary. The version used in this study, the most up-to-date RAMS available in complete form, is RAMS 2C.

A number of features make RAMS a desirable model formulation. Written in standard Fortran, RAMS can be transferred to almost any computer of sufficient size. It is composed of 19 basic modules and 15 library modules. Depending on the type of model run one desires (hydrostatic vs. non-hydrostatic, horizontally homogeneous vs. variable initialization, etc.) different sets of modules are necessary. In addition to the meteorological model that is the core of RAMS, there exist three other standard Fortran packages to assist the user. These are:

- 1. Isentropic Analysis Developed to set-up variable initialization, this package organizes and formats meteorological surface and upper air data for assimilation into the model as it progresses in simulated time. The data is interpolated to isentropic surfaces. This package is not used in this study.
- 2. Visualization and Analysis This package manipulates RAMS output such that it can be plotted. In this way the user is able to visualize the changes occurring in time to his/her model atmosphere. Plots can be made in X-Z, Y-Z, and X-Y crosssections, of atmospheric variables such as u, v, and w wind, mixing ratio, cloud water, cloud ice, temperature, potential temperature, and others. Many plots from this package are included as figures in this study.
- 3. Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model (LPDM) The use of the LPDM with RAMS is described by McNider et al. (1988) and Pielke (1984) and is an independent extension of the Visualization and Analysis Package. In addition to meteorological fields, the LPDM allows the user to visualize the trajectories of particles in time. Based on information contained in files produced by the RAMS meteorological code, particles released as point, line, or volume sources from locations within the domain, are moved in time by model produced flows. If selected, parameterized subgrid-scale turbulent velocity components can be calculated at specified time periods for each particle as well. The LPDM is used extensively in this study to simulate pollutant flows from Los Angeles under given southwest flow conditions. Plots are available in X-Z, Y-Z, and X-Y cross-sections of particle position and meteorological field.
- 3.2 RAMS Formulation and Options and the investor of the options and

Whereas the above three packages either prepare data for the meteorological model or manipulate its output data, the meteorological model itself, RAMS, is considerably more complex.

3.2.1 Variables

The basic goal of RAMS is to predict the future state of the given domain's atmosphere based on initial conditions. The model's prognosis, as with most numerical models, is based on the iteration of time-dependent conservation equations. To adequately simulate atmospheric phenomena, equations describing the conservation of mass, momentum, and thermodynamic properties are necessary. In RAMS, these conservation equations are composed of four basic atmospheric variables; the ice-liquid water potential temperature (θ_{il}) , the mixing ratio (r), the Exner function $(\pi = (\left(\frac{p}{\rho_o}\right)^{\frac{R}{C_p}})$, and the u, v, and w wind components. The ice-liquid water potential temperature of a parcel is conserved even when phase changes of water occur within the parcel (Tripoli and Cotton, 1981). From the Exner function prognosis, density changes are diagnosed. Potential temperature (θ) , temperature, pressure, cloud droplet mixing ratio, and water vapor mixing ratio are also diagnosed from the prognoses of the four basic atmospheric variables and, when the cloud model is employed, mixing ratios of rain droplets, pristine ice crystals, and graupel particles are also included (Tripoli, 1986). Because these equations are iterated within a grid structure stable, numerical, time-differencing schemes are used to evaluate the equations in time.

3.2.2 Gridding System

RAMS utilizes the standard C grid as described by Arakawa and Lamb (1981). The user may choose the grid increments desired based on the limitations of resolved features and numerical stability (or computer limits). These increments are chosen in the x, y, and z directions. To resolve further atmospheric detail one may also 'nest down' (add a finer sized grid within the coarse grid) in a specific location of interest. For example, in this study a coarse grid increment of 32 km is chosen over a domain covering much of the southwest U.S. (see Figure 1.2). In the third simulation, a fine nest is added within the coarse grid with grid increment one-fourth that of the coarse grid. Thus, the fine grid has an increment of 8 km and specifically covers the Los Angeles Basin to better resolve mesoscale atmospheric features in that region. Grid increments in the horizontal are placed via a polar stereographic system. This eliminates the problem of the distance between longitude lines changing with latitude which was inherent in the latitude-longitude coordinates which existed in earlier versions (i.e. 2A) of RAMS. Within memory limitations, as many grid points as one desires may be chosen in the x- and y-directions. The increments do not have to be the same in x and y, and increments have varied from as small as a few meters to hundreds of kilometers. In the vertical, the terrain following σ_z system and associated coordinate transformation of Gal-Chen and Somerville (1975a,b) is used. The vertical position in this system, z^* , is related to the general vertical coordinate, z, by $z^* = H\left(\frac{z-z_s}{H-z_s}\right)$, where H is domain depth and z_s is topography height. The user can select vertical grid levels as desired such that high resolution is achievable for any layer of the atmosphere.

3.2.3 Atmospheric Moisture

Four different levels of moisture complexity can be chosen for a specific RAMS model simulation. The first level makes a simulation completely dry such that moisture effects on atmospheric variables are ignored. The second option also limits the effect of water substance by using vapor as a passive tracer. The third option condenses vapor to droplets at water saturation. The fourth choice available is complete microphysics. This needs to be chosen when cloud simulations are completed (i.e. thunderstorms, weather fronts) or when atmospheric water physics is deemed an important influence on simulated conditions. Within the microphysics module (Flatau et al., 1989) processes such as nucleation growth, collection, and precipitation are modeled for atmospheric hydrometeors such as rain, graupel, aggregates, snow, and pristine ice. Microphysical effects are not studied here, so the second level of moisture complexity (vapor passive tracer) is chosen.

3.2.4 Radiation

One has the option of using short and longwave radiation effects. Chen and Cotton (1983a,b) describe the radiation scheme used in this study. In addition to diurnal incoming and outgoing radiation effects, this scheme includes the influence of water vapor and condensate, ozone, and carbon dioxide. Because radiation effects have a very important influence on the evolution of atmospheric structure, radiative flux divergence

3.2.5 Model Boundaries

As stated earlier the vertical coordinate in RAMS is σ_z . σ_z , combined with the rigid surface condition, creates simple reflective lower boundary conditions. The model surface attempts to simulate real earth ground conditions by using the surface layer scheme of Businger et al. (1971) and the soil model of Tremback and Kessler (1985). Given soil type, land percentage, and surface layer gradients, the soil model prognoses the evolution of soil moisture and heat contributions to the atmosphere.

For non-hydrostatic, complex terrain model runs such as those in this study, the top boundary condition available for long simulations is the 'wall-on-top' option. However, the computational instability produced by a reflective upper boundary necessities the use of Rayleigh friction layers in the upper levels of the model atmosphere. For the model runs, five 950 m thick upper levels were used. Over a period 150 seconds, waves travelling within the 5 layer region were dissipated to avoid spurious interaction with lower level atmospheric conditions.

Lateral boundary conditions were chosen such that computational instability was minimized. This enabled the simulations to provide realistic meteorological fields for 25 hours of simulated time. The chosen scheme for the lateral boundaries was that described by Klemp and Wilhelmson (1978), which allows "...dominant gravity wave modes to propagate out through the lateral boundaries without significant reflection" in response to internal forcing.

3.2.6 Model Initialization

To initialize RAMS with wind, temperature, moisture, and pressure fields there are two available methods. The first, called variable initialization, is organized through the isentropic analysis package described earlier. This allows the user to begin the RAMS simulation with data assimilated from multiple upper air soundings within the domain. The second option is horizontally homogeneous initialization. As implied by the name, the initial model fields are the same at the same vertical height throughout the domain. For example, as shown in Figure 3.1, the initial v wind at any height above sea level is the same horizontally. This seemingly unrealistic initial condition is eliminated quickly by iterating the model equations for a few minutes.



Figure 3.1: An example of horizontally homogeneous initialization as actually used in the second 3-D, complex simulation for this thesis. Contour intervals are 2 K for this plot of the potential temperature. The unusual appearance at the top of the plot is caused by the terrain-following coordinate system of RAMS.

In addition to initializing atmospheric condition, the domain surface also needs to be appropriately specified. RAMS is capable of simulating essentially any terrain feature. One may use flat terrain, an idealized shape (i.e. a Gaussian or sine wave shaped mountain), a user specific terrain height data set or heights from a specific latitude-longitude data set. The latter choice was used in these simulations. On the 32 km grid increment domain terrain heights were read and interpolated from a file of 10-minute spacing between data points (approximately 15 km) and from a data set of 30 second spacing (approximately 750 m) for the 8 km grid increment fine nest. The 10-minute terrain-height data set interpolated to the 32 km grid increment domain is depicted in Figure 1.3.

Equated for four large i of the control in non-eigencous rate of ratio is as admit by used in the include of course i is four this plot of the control i is a course i is the real i of the four of the control i is a course of the course i is a course of the cour

Control to mit turned as trapheric condition, it is domain with a distinction be apprential of the short. Reading to optimize of statistic to childly any formula feature. The meanuse for terrain and fulliaries have denote fully any optimizer state and shall optimize any if terrain and fulliaries have denote for monophysics of the state and to prove any if the corresponding of the set of access in the state of the distinguiser data set. The nation there is no to all in the set of access the state of the state of the state.

Chapter 4

SIMULATIONS AND RESULTS

4.1 RAMS Model Simulations Overview

The three simulations used in this study were very similar except for select changes in gridding and terrain. All were three-dimensional, non-hydrostatic with a horizontal coarse grid (Grid 1) increment of 72 km, an innermost (Grid 2) of 24 km grid increment encompassing the Los Angeles-Grand Canyon Corridor, and a timestep of 150 seconds. All were begun at 1200 GMT and run for 54 hours of simulated time over the same domain size (as depicted in Figure 1.3). The first simulation, SW-1, used flat terrain for its surface although the region is actually of complex terrain. The purpose of SW-1 was to investigate the importance to pollutant transport of the terrain that actually exists in the Los Angeles to Grand Canyon pathway. To be complete in this regard a second simulation, SW-2, was completed with smoothed, real terrain included. Terrain was read from latitude-longitude height files with 10-minute resolution and interpolated to the 72 km and 24 km grid increments of Grids 1 and 2, respectively. The terrain appears in Grid 1 as shown in Figure 1.3. SW-2 allowed an investigation of the significance of topographical barriers to pollutant flow from Los Angeles in a coarse (96 km) resolution environment. The third simulation, SW-3, differed from SW-2 by the inclusion of a fine nest (Grid 3) of 8 km grid increment within the 24 km increment coarse grid (Grid 2, see Figure 4.1). Grid 3 better resolves mesoscale atmospheric features associated with the complex terrain. Because the 10-minute latitude-longitude terrain height data set contains data in approximately 15 km intervals and the smoother filters out terrain features less than 16 km $(2\Delta x)$, the 10-minute data set was also used to initialize terrain on the fine grid.



REFERENCE OF A REFERENCO OF A REFERENCO OF A REFERE

weight and the standard tracked in the standard states of the second sta



Figure 4.1: A plan view of the gridding for SW-3. Grids 1, 2, and 3 have grid increments of 72 km, 24 km, and 8 km, respectively. All extend vertically up through 35 levels to 21 km and down through 11 soil levels, respectively.

The sounding used to initialize the horizontally homogeneous conditions of the three simulations was a composite average of soundings taken within the domain. To represent the Los Angeles to Grand Canyon corridor atmosphere in the early morning hours, the soundings from San Diego, California, Las Vegas, Nevada, and Winslow, Arizona were combined. The time period of interest is February 10-13, 1987 during the WHITEX study. where upper air flow was generally consistent from the southwest, except at lower atmospheric levels and occasionally aloft, and on February 14th when a front passed through the region. Simple averages taken along the pressure surface at each station for each day of the period revealed winds blowing from 210°-270° throughout the period. The Grand Canyon would be directly impacted by pollutants flowing along a line of 251° through Los Angeles. It was decided that an average wind direction of 251° would be initialized vertically throughout the domain. This enabled an approximate worst-case analysis to be used to investigate Los Angeles' contribution to the February 10-13 period. Windspeeds, temperatures, and moisture-level data initial sounding are also composite averages over the period. All model runs were initialized with the same sounding, representing the 4-day period, February 10-13, 1987, as depicted in Table 4.1. Given the form of this initialization, integrating RAMS for 24 hours represents the model evolution of any one day in the period, each being approximately the same. The reader should recognize that in many cases land breeze, terrain-forcing, or surface inhomogeneities drastically alter low-level winds. These winds were ignored or averaged out in the initialization, but are at least partly regenerated by the RAMS formulation. Recall that the WHITEX study showed such winds, specifically katabatic easterly drainage flows from the Navajo Generating Station to the Grand Canyon, to often be partly responsible for pollutant entrainment into the canyon atmosphere. In these simulations, an attempt is made to determine if, even under near worst case conditions, Los Angeles' contribution could have been significant to WHITEX haze.

4.2 Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model Simulations Overview

The LPDM was initially described in Section 3.1. The user must select a number of variables from the LPDM namelist to initialize a simulation. Namelist is a word used to

Pressure	Height	Potential	u-component	v-component	Dewpoint
		Temperature	Wind	Wind	Depression
(Pa)	(m)	(K)	$(m \ s^{-1})$	$(m \ s^{-1})$	(°C)
100000.0	0.0	286.66	2.10	0.80	1.0
85000.0	1354.2	293.38	4.00	1.40	7.4
70000.0	2928.0	301.70	9.20	3.30	12.9
50000.0	5529.5	311.07	13.70	5.00	14.6
40000.0	7157.1	315.58	17.40	6.30	14.6
30000.0	9136.3	320.20	24.40	8.90	40.0
25000.0	10331.1	327.82	27.00	9.80	40.0
20000.0	11772.8	349.57	32.50	11.80	40.0
15000.0	13612.0	371.44	31.50	11.50	40.0
10000.0	16118.2	398.16	18.90	6.90	40.0
5000.0	20301.1	484.94	11.00	4.00	40.0
3000.0	23381.5	560.91	5.40	2.00	40.0
2000.0	25850.3	642.39	4.20	1.50	40.0

Table 4.1: The sounding used to homogeneously initialize with all height in RAMS simulations used in this study. It is a subjective composite of the San Diego, CA, Las Vegas, NV, and Winslow, AZ morning soundings for the 4-day period February 10-13, 1987.

describe the file wherein the user inputs the specific data necessary to run the model. The LPDM was run with the same particle sources for SW-1 through SW-3. The only major difference, indeed the most important and necessary difference, is that the meteorological input and surface conditions for each of the three LPDM runs came from the meteorological output produced by SW-1 through SW-3, respectively. The LPDM runs for SW-1 through SW-3 are SWP-1, SWP-2, and SWP-3, respectively.

Each of the five LPDM simulations per RAMS run were spawned by a continuous volume source in the LA Basin at 20 minutes of varying depths vertically and 28.8 km in the x- and y-directions centered on Los Angeles. One particle is released every 250 seconds from a randomly selected location within the volume. The turbulence parameterization within the LPDM (McNider et al., 1988) is turned on such that a turbulent, 3-D, wind fluctuation is applied to travelling particles. Although no terrain is in SWP-1, both SWP-2 and SWP-3 use the same terrain as exists in the model domain. For SWP-1 through SWP-3, LPDM wind fields were interpolated between meteorological fields created at regular intervals during the 54-hour period.

4.3 SW-1: Simulation Analysis

4.3.1 Meteorological Results: SW-1

The meteorological fields that evolve over the 54-hour period from 1200Z to 1800Z (2 days later) generically represent atmospheric conditions in any two days of the composited period. These fields are depicted in Figures 4.2 through 4.4. Figure 4.2 contains x - z cross sections through the domain center point of vector wind in four hour intervals beginning 20 hours after run start through 44 hours. Figures 4.3 and 4.4 are the same cross section but depict the evolution of potential temperature, θ , and vertical velocity, w, respectively. Note that winds are very consistent in time and the vertical wind, while developed, is weak. The potential temperature profile exhibits little change in the upper layers while lower layers form a 1 km deep unstable boundary layer. This boundary layer begins to develop significantly between 1200Z and 1800Z and returns to nighttime levels by ~ 0000 Z. The small depth of the model boundary layer is consistent with mid-winter conditions. The flat terrain of this simulation creates an environment with little forcing; thus winds are not subject to large change in time. In fact, the only surface inhomogeneity throughout the domain is the land/sea line along the California coast. Figures 4.5 and 4.6 show the evolution of horizontal vector winds on an x - y cross section through 73.2 m and 1033.7 m, respectively. As made obvious in the Figures, these winds are quite consistent throughout the domain in both speed and direction over space and time although evidence of an inertial oscillation of ~ 20 hours is present. The inertial oscillation period at these latitudes is, in fact, ~ 20 hours which is consistent with the period of the horizontal vectors' oscillation. Particles released into such an environment would be expected to travel in a rather simple manner nearly parallel to the quasi-uniform wind vectors.

ligare is a listication economical at second weble construction for it of S well at (1, 0890Z, and r B) and (at 1, 192, and 2). The plates are in first for a sterrar long contained when show its is in the analysis of a more (2 a.m. - 2 a.m. - 2

regional motivations of VZE of

v/B and mean Knowledge Avenue.



Figure 4.2: Vertical cross section of vector wind across Grid 1 of SW-1 at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. The plates are in four-hour intervals beginning 20 hours after run initiation until 44 hours (2 a.m. -2 a.m. next day). The longest vector represents ~ 27 m s⁻¹.



Figure 4.2: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.2: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



Figure 4.2: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.



Figure 4.3: Same as Figure 4.2 except for potential temperature, θ at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. The lowest 4 km of the 21 km vertical extent of the domain is shown to emphasize boundary layer development. Contour intervals are 1.0°C.



Figure 4.3: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.3: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



Figure 4.3: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.



Figure 4.4: Same as Figure 4.2 except the evolution of vertical velocity, w at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. Contour intervals are 0.25 cm s⁻¹.



Figure 4.4: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.4: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.







Figure 4.5: The evolution of horizontal vector winds over the 24-hour period 20 hours – 44 hours into the simulation in 4 hour intervals at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. This is a plan view on Grid 1 at the first model level 73.2 m above ground level. An inertial oscillation period of ~20 hours is evident. The longest vector represents ~2.8 m s^{-1} .



Figure 4.5: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.5: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.

4.1.2 LPDM Results: SWP-1

As deperibed in 4.2 the Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model was used to solvern planticles representing the Angeles politition within the RAMS domain. The 54 near period of particle transport was animated on a Statuent console in 210, fifteen-minute more ments. Five distinct paracle releases were compared, all centered over hos Angeles. The five particle distinct paracle releases were compared, all centered over hos Angeles. The five particle distinct paracle releases were compared, all centered over hos Angeles. The first particle distinct more designated SWP-is through SWP-is. Their distinguishing clauser trustice are

SWH-Lu - A 27 m thick, stancalor-like release from the surface (0 -) to 20 m

SWH do - who a 20 m thick release out centered around 100 m

SWP-15 A 20 m Mick release centered on 500 a

SWP B (d - A 20 A thick cheate centered on 200 c



SWR i.e. \sim 500 m deep volume from the surface to 500 m

1-20 on Released SVIP

Figure 4.5: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.

reveau quandere so vertical annual entimation majorana nearport (reserver the homogeneous) and con Figure \$175. Because windfields prototed on the model over the homogeneous, flat terrain change little throughout the 54-hour popul, the f.A. Bacin plume moves o

4.3.2 LPDM Results: SWP-1

As described in 4.2 the Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model was used to advect particles representing Los Angeles pollution within the RAMS domain. The 54-hour period of particle transport was animated on a Stardent console in 210, fifteen-minute increments. Five distinct particle releases were completed, all centered over Los Angeles. The five particle simulations are designated SWP-1a through SWP-1e. Their distinguishing characteristics are:

SWP-1a - A 20 m thick, pancake-like release from the surface (0 m) to 20 m.

SWP-1b - Also a 20 m thick release, but centered around 100 m.

SWP-1c - A 20 m thick release centered on 500 m.

SWP-1d - A 20 m thick release centered on 250 m.

SWP-1e - A 500 m deep volume from the surface to 500 m.

In each simulation one particle was released from within the designated release volume at the rate of one particle per 250 seconds. By using distinct levels of release, the particular significance of pollutants at a certain level to the general transport out of the LA Basin volume was shown. SWP-1e represents the volume of pollutants after accumulating to a depth of 500 m as generally might exist during stagnant periods such as WHITEX.

As one might expect, a flat terrain simulation of generically initialized wind conditions does not reveal much relevant data regarding true dispersion out of the LA Basin. These simulations are intended to be compared to terrain-inclusive RAMS runs (SW-2 and SW-3) to evaluate the importance of that terrain.

0-20 m Release: SWP-1a

The simulation and subsequent animation of LPDM results for the surface release reveals considerable vertical mixing but limited horizontal transport (relative to the plume axis, see Figure 4.7). Because windfields predicted by the model over the homogeneous, flat terrain change little throughout the 54-hour period, the LA Basin plume moves in



Figure 4.6: Same as Figure 4.5 except for 1033.7 m above ground level at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. The longest vector represents $\sim 5.0 \text{ m s}^{-1}$.



Figure 4.6: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.6: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.


the west-southwesterly wind directly toward the Grand Canyon. Figure 4.7, shows the progression of the plume toward the Grand Canyon at 1, 9, 18, 27, 36, 45 and 54 hours (13Z day 1 through 18Z two days later). Slight changes in direction from the 251° wind (initial) due to inertial oscillation are seen in the slight meander along the plume in time. Also some shear with height develops in response to surface friction causing the upper 300-500 m of plume to move with a more easterly component with respect to the lower portion of plume. From the initial release width of approximately 45 km the plume spreads horizontally to a maximum width of 100 km at simulation end.

Although horizontal dispersion is limited in this stable, wintertime environment, vertical dispersion is limited only by the extent of boundary layer growth. In this simulation the boundary layer grows to approximately 1 km. Correspondingly, particles initially in the 0-20 m layer during pre-boundary layer times (overnight) are quickly mixed to 1 km when to boundary layer does form. The animation further reveals that when the boundary layer depth again drops as evening approaches only a small number of particles are brought down with it. Particles predominantly remain elevated at the level they achieved prior to sunset and boundary layer decay. Particles released into the stable overnight atmosphere do not exhibit significant vertical dispersion, while horizontal dispersion continues although at a slower rate than during the day. Particles at lower levels move at a slower rate to the northeast than those aloft.

Under these conditions particles can be counted at different locations to roughly estimate dilution factors given plume dimensions in the region of interest. Using the volume containing the first 100 particles for reference, it is found that 100 particles reside within a volume approximately 5.0×10^4 m $\times 5.0 \times 10^4$ m $\times 20.0$ m. Each particle, then, represents one-hundredth of the pollutant mass in the LA plume from the surface to 20 m. At the plume's densest concentration over the Grand Canyon region, 70 particles occupy a volume approximately 7.0×10^4 m $\times 1.00 \times 10^5$ m $\times 1.0 \times 10^3$ m. The dilution factor in this case is 200. Although 70% of the original plume pollutant mass transports to the Grand Canyon in the worst instance, the particles disperses through such a great volume due to natural atmospheric processes that one-two-hundredth of the original concentration



Figure 4.7: x - y particle position plots for SWP-1a from 1 to 54 hours at (a) 1300Z, hour 1; and (b) 2100Z, hour 9. The release area and Grand Canyon region are labeled and shown as boxes at their respective locations.



Figure 4.7: (c) 0600Z, hour 18; and (d) 1500Z, hour 27.



Figure 4.7: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0900Z, hour 45.

• preter a contract of other products the accounter and the plate of the others of the transformer former for products on the data of the contract of the c

THE REPART OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP

And the transmission stars battake of justice or more as an if the anomy is start or the contact on as a 40 member 4 member 4 members by a contact for a period mater 5 members or the starter or SWR-14 thera members, mission begins or a spectra and table a second cities granter 1 b.



Figure 4.7: (g) 1800Z, hour 54.

home a part of an average of a start of a start of the board of average in the source of the source

is present. A number of details do not enter into this calculation such as wet and dry deposition, chemical conversion processes and, likelihood of entrainment into the Grand Canyon atmosphere (i.e. from above the inversion in the Canyon). These other effects would increase the effective dilution factor further. Note that the dilution factor would have been fifty times less (i.e. four, a worst case) if the pollutants had not mixed through the 1 km deep boundary layer and instead remained within 20 m of the surface. This emphasizes the importance of the growing boundary layer to the dispersion of pollutant plumes.

100 m Release: SWP-1b

SWP-1b releases the same pancake of particles centered at 100 m above the surface over a 20 m depth (90 m - 110 m). Over the 54-hour period many features are the same as SWP-1a. Because this release begins at a higher altitude its particles initially move with the higher speeds present at that level. However, as the boundary layer grows beyond 100 m depth in the early afternoon, the particles rapidly disperse throughout that depth just as the 0-20 m release particles of SWP-1a did. SWP-1b appears very much the same as SWP-1a as depicted in Figure 4.7; its plume meanders with the period of the inertial oscillation, the dilution factor is roughly 200, the primary cause of dilution is boundary layer growth and the horizontal dispersion of the plume is limited. Very few differences with SWP-1a are seen. The plume mixes more quickly to the top of the boundary layer, and its leading edge travels slightly faster than SWP-1a. Vertical shear is also evident.

250 m Release: SWP-1c

Just as with SWP-1a and b, SWP-1c transports its plume of 250 m initial elevation with little horizontal dispersion but with strong vertical mixing. It is also similar in that the plume meanders with the inertial oscillation of approximately 20 hours and the shear layers develop in time. The leading edge of the plume reaches the Grand Canyon area at 37 hours (7 p.m. MST) just as the sun has set and the boundary layer has reduced in depth similar to the plume depiction in Figure 4.7. The leading edge of the plume at 37 hours is travelling between 800 and 1000 m because it has been subject to (at these heights) to stronger horizontal flow. It is hypothesized that such pollutants would not impact the Grand Canyon due to the stability of the atmosphere during the overnight hours. It would not be until some 5-8 hours later, when the portion of the plume travelling in the lowest levels reaches the Grand Canyon area, that an impact would be felt at the surface.

500 m Release: SPW-1d

SWP-1d's release height caused the particle plume to travel slightly more quickly than the lower level releases SPW-1a through c during stable atmospheric periods. Since this plume was subject to the same boundary layer sequence as all of SWP-1, its characteristics of travel in time were very similar to those of SWP-1a through c (as depicted in Figure 4.7). For brevity those are listed below:

• Extensive mixing during deep boundary layer periods.

- Little or no mixing overnight and prior to boundary layer growth.
- Shearing with height in time.
- Leading edge reaches Grand Canyon region at \sim 36 hours. This edge is elevated.
- A slight meander with the period equal roughly to an inertial oscillation of 20 hours.
- A dilution factor of approximately 200.

Surface to 500 m Release: SWP-1e

As expected SWP-1e reveals little new information. It contains plume characteristics of each of the previous simulations except for its uniform, random release appearance during stable periods due to the nature of its initial configuration. Refer to the description of SWP-1d for a list of commonalities. During grown boundary layer periods, 1 p.m. -6 p.m. of each day, its behavior and appearance are essentially similar to the same time periods of SWP-1a through d and is well represented by Figure 4.7.

24 hour parlor trend (CS02 to un02 the mar day (29 bruns to 41 hours inforthe a constant on which 2 ht we defined active real cress sections (see Figure 1.4 for the extern a fort 21. Figure 4.51 denote the orientation of 12 he more perform on Guil 2. Note that by 4.4 SW-2: Simulation Analysis

4.4.1 Meteorological Results

By adding approximate real topography to the model conditions in SW-2, an attempt is made to represent the true fields that would exist over the domain. How the model interpolates the terrain data set to represent actual terrain is depicted in Figures 1.3 and 4.8 for Grids 1 and 2, respectively. Note how the model terrain on Grid 2 is more detailed than that on Grid 1 due to the smaller grid increment on Grid 2.



Figure 4.8: Topography on Grid 2 for SW-2. Contour intervals are 200 m. Note the additional terrain detail on Grid 2 compared to Grid 1 (Figure 1.3).

Potential Temperature

Figures 4.9 and 4.10 present vertical cross sections of potential temperature over the 24-hour period from 0080Z to 0800Z the next day (20 hours to 44 hours into the simulation) on Grid 2 at two different horizontal cross sections (see Figure 4.8 for the extent of Grid 2). Figure 4.11 shows the orientation of these cross sections on Grid 2. Note that by



Figure 4.9: A vertical, x - z cross section of potential temperature, θ , for SW-2 at 120 km north of the domain center point transecting the Grand Canyon for a 24 hr period in 4 hour increments at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. Figure 4.9h is 24 hours earlier than 4.9d for comparison.





Figure 4.9: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



Figure 4.9: (g) 0800Z, hour 44; and (h) 2000Z, hour 8.



Figure 4.10: A vertical, x - z cross section of potential temperature, θ , for SW-2 at 120 km south of the domain center point transecting the Los Angeles Basin at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. See Figure 4.11 for the cross section locations. The contour interval is 2.0 K, and time interval is 4 hours beginning 20 hours into SW-2 continuing through hour 44.



Figure 4.10: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.10: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



Figure 4.10: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.

(8002 the boundary large supproximately on estimate by the array of the transmission of a sequence has grown to apply summary for 000 as of the over side of the transmission of a sequence of and is reached by a comparent of the experience of t



ries are consider an 1 different when released :

Figure 4.11: The location of the cross sections depicted in Figures 4.9 (upper horizontal line) and 4.10 (lower horizontal line).

1600Z the boundary layer, approximately represented by the area of vertical isentropes, has grown to approximately 500 m on the east side of the mountains. The boundary layer grows to 1 km by 2000Z and is reduced, as would be expected, into the evening and overnight hours (0Z - 12Z, next day). This first 24-hour period (Figure 4.9h) compares very favorably with the potential temperature fields of the next 24-hour period (Figure 4.9d). The effects of the Pacific Ocean on the boundary layer can be seen in the reduced depth of the boundary layer throughout the daytime on the west side of the mountains compared to the high desert (east side of the mountains). For comparison, Figure 4.9h shows the potential temperature field at 2000Z (2 p.m. MST) but 24 hours earlier than the 2000Z isentropes in Figure 4.9d. Differences that exist are primarily where expected, in the lowest 3-4 km of the domain. No direct comparison with observations is strictly valid because the initial conditions were composited, however, the surface temperatures are generally within 4°C of actual surface temperatures during the WHITEX period.

Horizontal Winds

Wind fields are the single most important variable affecting dry, non-reactive pollutant transport Since moisture fields are not modeled with microphysics in this study, the generation of reasonable winds within the simulations is of the greatest importance. Figure 4.12 depicts the time evolution of horizontal wind vectors for the 24-hour, midsimulation period 0080Z - 0080Z, next day, in 4 hour intervals on Grid 2. These are the near-surface vectors at 73.2 m above the ground on z^* surfaces (terrain-following). At 0000Z (early evening, 6 p.m. MST) the winds have significantly altered from their initial west-southwesterly path. This is in stark contrast to the comparatively uniform field over flat terrain (SW-1, Figures 4.5 and 4.6). The inclusion of real terrain to SW-2 has, as expected, completely changed the windfield evolution. Of course, then, pollutant trajectories are considerably different when released into SW-2's environment, compared to that of SW-1. In the northern portion of Grid 2, the severe terrain of the southern Sierra Nevada mountains have forced impinging winds to diverge to the south causing eventual convergence with west and southwesterlies in south central California north of Los Angeles (≈ 150 km). This convergence, combined with the relatively high altitude, creates the



Figure 4.12: The evolution of horizontal wind vectors on Grid 2 for SW-2 at 73.2 m above ground level for the period 20 hours to 44 hours into the simulation (2 a.m. -2 a.m. MST) in 4 hour intervals at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. Topography is included in 200 m intervals to better show the effects of terrain. The longest vector represents ~9 m s⁻¹.





Figure 4.12: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



Figure 4.12: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.

strongest winds, 9.8 m s⁻¹, within the domain at this point. To the east of the California mountains winds become northerly and even form a counterclockwise circulation just east of the southern Sierras. Two low-level transport routes appear in the Los Angeles Basin region. The first follows to the northeast through the region representing Cajon Pass. The region does not appear as a 'pass' because of the topography smoothing done within RAMS but is a ridge-like feature. When a fine nest is added over the LA Basin with 8 km grid increment, as in SW-3, such smaller scale features are considerably better represented. The second route goes through Banning Pass. Both routes have been noted as pollutant transport routes in previous studies (Ulrickson and Mass, 1990; McElroy, 1987).

In Southern Arizona the initial southwesterly flow has backed to the southeast, apparently due to low-level terrain forcing by the Mogollon and Colorado Plateaus in central Arizona. This creates a convergence zone in the Mohave desert; a potential location for pollutant accumulation and circulation. Similar turning of the low-level winds occurs as southwesterly initial winds impinge on the Cococino Plateau approaching the Grand Canyon region. Winds become upslope to the elevated land masses. This is noticeable in Northern Arizona where terrain heights vary (compare wind flows to terrain in Figure 4.12).

At the 1 km level the horizontal wind is, as expected, considerably less influenced by terrain than at the 73 m level (see Figure 4.13). Some evidence of an inertial oscillation as was seen in SW-1 appears in SW-2; note the veering of the wind from southwest to west, particularly at upper levels (as shown by vectors above higher terrain). Maximum wind speed is maintained well, remaining consistent between 8 m s⁻¹ and 11 m s⁻¹ once the model has sufficiently adjusted approximately 6-10 hours into the simulation. Prior to the adjustment to the idealized initial conditions the wind flows, while consistent in direction, are higher in speed by 10-40% over the adjusted fields at 12 hours. Note the consistency between the 1600Z + 2 days (Figure 4.13h) and the 1600Z + 1 (Figure 4.13c) day horizontal wind vectors. This comparison suggests that the model has developed its own consistent solution describing how the atmosphere would react to the given terrain, solar insolation, and idealized initial conditions. Within this regime the pollutant pathways

intraga in contrai in notice of lains



Figure 4.13: Same as Figure 4.12 except for 1033.7 m above ground level at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. The longest vector represents $\sim 10 \text{ m s}^{-1}$.



Figure 4.13: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.13: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.

to the northeast and that if **Los Angeles are** much less listing. At the oright of the terrain terrain fording appears to be limited to large scale variation in how. All everyption to this can be found over the severe terrain of the southeast Sierra Movanae Allowing in the southeast consistently diverge on the approacale.

At 2 km (not shown) the terrare influence between infinite curve infinite curve at the 1 km level. Model adjustment to terrain effects is limited to a provinsibly $z \le 1$ (econtrol is initial maximum windspeed. After adjusting, windspeed matrice are adjustments if z = 1. The inervial oscillation of SW-1 and at the 1 km level of $\beta W/2 < 2$ wither evolve that z < z < 2 and z < z < 2 and z < 2 wither and z < 2 and

Vertical Wind

Figure 4.14 shows the 24-hour evolution of vertical word, at four 20 to 44 hours into the simulation along the LA Basin transect. The simulation of generally on a loci is into the simulation along the LA Basin transect. The simulation of generally on a loci is into the interview of the simulation of the sinterval of the simulation of the simulation of

Figure 4.13: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.

chirain in the Los Appene to Grand Canvon conidu

to the northeast and east of Los Angeles are much less distinct. At the height of 1 km terrain forcing appears to be limited to large-scale variations in flow. An exception to this can be found over the severe terrain of the southern Sierra Nevadas where wind vectors consistently diverge on the mesoscale.

At 3 km (not shown) the terrain influence is even more limited than at the 1 km level. Model adjustment to terrain effects is limited to approximately a 20% reduction in initial maximum windspeed. After adjusting, windspeed maxima are approximately 13 m s⁻¹. The inertial oscillation of SW-1 and at the 1 km level of SW-2 is further evident at 3 km. Southwesterly-westerly flow is maintained throughout the simulation to varying degrees. This level is far less influential on pollutant transport due to its altitude above any anthropogenic source.

Vertical Wind

Figure 4.14 shows the 24-hour evolution of vertical wind, w, from 20 to 44 hours into the simulation along the LA Basin transect. The simulation is generally characterized by weak vertical motion except in mountainous regions where positive and negative motions peak near 10 cm s⁻¹. As seen in Figure 4.14 the model is able to simulate the upward/downward vertical motion couplet typical of mountain-induced gravity waves. On the mountainside, evidence of upslope flow from solar heating is evident. Pollutants transported into the mountainous area would become subject to strong mixing and be lifted to upper levels. That mountainsides are areas of strong ventilation of Los Angeles pollution has been hypothesized by Ulrickson and Mass (1990a,b), and Segal et al. (1985). Similarly, in the overnight periods, as shown in Figure 4.14a, f, and g shows katabatic mountain drainage flows up to 6 cm s⁻¹. The strength and expanse of such vertical motions emphasizes the differences in dispersion that are expected to occur between the true terrain and flat terrain simulations. One expects increased dispersion and a lessened impact of Los Angeles produced pollution on the Grand Canyon simply due to the existence of complex terrain in the Los Angeles to Grand Canyon corridor.



Figure 4.14: The time evolution of vertical motion, w, for SW-2 at the Los Angeles Basin transect for 20 to 44 hours in four hour increments at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. Contours are at 2 cm s⁻¹ intervals. This cross section is depicted as the southern horizontal line in Figure 4.11.





Figure 4.14: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



4.4.2 LPDM Results: SWP-2

By running with Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model, using the realistic terrain and more complicated fields of SW-2, numerous insights into the processes effecting pollutants transported out of the Los Angeles Basin are found. In comparison to the relatively simple dispersion characteristics of SWP-1, SWP-2 describes a complicated diurnal cycle of pollutant flow in the Los Angeles-Grand Canyon corridor.

Similar to SWP-1, SWP-2 contains five different types of random volume releases from within the confines of the Los Angeles Basin. The releases are exactly the same in dimension as SWP-1 but are elevated somewhat by the inclusion of terrain in SW-2. As with SWP-1 a rectangular parcake-like volume is the release location for four of the LPDM runs, its dimensions are ~ 29 km $\times \sim 29$ km $\times \sim 20$ m. This rectangular box is centered on release heights of 10 m (surface), 100 m, 250 m, and 500 m. A fifth run was completed which extends from 0 m to 500 m in the vertical (representing a deep volume source). Particle positions were saved every 15 minutes allowing the animation of 210 consecutive files out to 54 hours. The particle release was begun at 45 minutes into the simulation and ended at 54 hours with one particle releasing every 250 seconds. A total of 767 particles were released throughout each simulation.

0-20 m, 100 m, and 250 m Releases: SWP-2a through SWP-2c

SWP-2a through SWP-2c represent continuous releases from close to the surface, 100 m and 250 m, respectively. The animation of particle transport over a 54-hour period reveals numerous atmospheric effects complicating flow out of the LA Basin. Figure 4.15 presents an x - y view of particle transport out of the LA Basin in time based on SWP-2e. Because SWP-2e is a deep release (surface to 500 m) it generically represents the features that exist in SWP-2a through 2c. For brevity, this figure will be referred to in all SWP-2 discussions (a-e).

0-4 hours: During this period the model is still adjusting to terrain feature effects and southwesterlies (as were initialized) exist throughout the domain. Particles



Figure 4.15: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (1) 0900Z, hour 45.

are trapper within the LA Basis in wait we assert which which fore can ticles into the mountains but caused can be due to after spire in table o private boundary layer developmen

4-12 hours:

(14) a.f. num and particles are contrary consported to the operation when higher herizontal winds trivementative operation in a comparised as a college note to the east of the first the respective descent of the of transpect to are as a contrable firmer of the processes in the of the of the protecting reaction ats as a low ringely and Raming Phase was a contrated particles are also when the transpect of the another of the of the analysis of the transpect of the another of the of the constitution at a start of the another of the another of the of the analysis of the transpect of the another of the optimum of the of the analysis of the transpect of the another of the optimum of the optimum.

12 28 bruck During this connectoveringht/early contains period and contains by Pyre a connect in depth and the networks place for any give contains the same



newly released pollutaries are, for the rate of apply in the large

Figure 4.15: (g) 1800Z, hour 54.

ary laver grows to nearly filled. Should mixing takes for ence endrois par fries to exper levels of the stronger which are able for on the contract Particle back were arrandicting to the north of hos Angles stroket of are trapped within the LA Basin by weak southwest winds which force particles into the mountains but cannot rise over due to atmospheric stability prior to boundary layer development.

- 4-12 hours: The boundary layer grows and decays during this period. Mixing reaches its maximum and particles are vertically transported to 800 m or more where higher horizontal winds take particles over the mountains supported by upslope flow to the east of LA into the high Mohave desert. Preferred transport routes are noticeable through Cajon Pass (which the model topography represents as a low ridge) and Banning Pass, while numerous particles are also able to travel over the mountains of San Bernardino National Forest at maximum boundary layer depth.
- 12-28 hours: During this evening/overnight/early morning period the boundary layer is reduced in depth and the atmosphere becomes quite stable. Because newly released pollutants are, for the most part, trapped within the shallow boundary layer (< 100 m), they reside near the surface and are subject to low-level, terrain-influenced winds. Particles released in the LA Basin are brought by easterly land drainage winds to the west (toward the ocean) *away from* the Grand Canyon. Once reaching the ocean they converge with the southwesterlies prevailing there, unaffected by drainage flows. This convergence contains particles along the mountains to the north of LA in an east-west line. The convergence is weak enough such that the pollutants remain in low levels. The high desert particles are trapped by atmospheric stability as well, being subject to a weak anticyclonic desert circulation near the east side of the San Bernardino National Forest. No particles travel toward or reach the Grand Canyon in the first 28 hours of this simulation.

28-36 hours: Similar to hours 4-12, this period is the daytime of day 2 where the boundary layer grows to nearly 1 km. Strong mixing takes the once-trapped particles to upper levels where stronger winds are able to advect them. Particles that were accumulating to the north of Los Angeles quickly rise
and move over or around the mountains in southwesterly flow. Newly released particles in the LA Basin again (similar to hours 4-12) exit to the Mohave Desert via Cajon and Banning Passes, predominantly. Particles which were trapped in the high desert overnight now begin to move again to the north and east. They do not, however, achieve the Grand Canyon in large numbers. Instead, since model winds have been forced to become south-southwesterly by terrain and atmospheric physics, the particles move north passing to the west of the major vistas of the Grand Canyon. Five of the approximately 100 particles released from the LA Basin during the previous day cross the far western edge of Grand Canyon National Park late in this period. Even so, the height at which they travel, 200-1000 m above ground level, suggests their entrainment in the Canyon is unlikely overnight. By no means, in this specific study, is the Los Angeles influence able to exceed 0.5% of its initial concentration at the far western end of the Grand Canyon National Park. The Grand Canyon's primary vistas are subject to considerably less than 0.5% and are perhaps unaffected.

36-52 hours: This period is quite similar to the 12-28 hour period described earlier, with the exception of those particles which have traveled to the west and north of northern Arizona. While about two-thirds of these particles have become trapped in the shallow overnight boundary layer and travel slowly in the complex mountain flows of eastern California, Nevada, and southern Utah, another third are not trapped by the boundary layer. This third travels at upper levels, where the southwesterlies are consistent and strong. The particles move with this flow off to the northeast. No additional particles affect the Grand Canyon.

SWP-2a through SWP-2c shows that surface LA Basin particles, released to represent approximate worst-case conditions of flow toward the Grand Canyon, are strongly influenced by terrain-induced meteorological flows. Terrain effects are so significant at these low levels that dilution is increased to 1000-2000 from 100-200 for a no-terrain simulation (see SWP-1 description). This increase in dilution factor is based on the fact that an order of magnitude fewer particles are able to impact the Grand Canyon region in SWP-2a through c. Whereas 70 particles were over GCNP in the worst case of SWP-1, only 7 particles impacted GCNP in the worst case of SWP-2. Different estimates of dilution factors and potential Grand Canyon impact are extended in the SWP-2 discussion. Furthermore, the terrain slope approaching the Colorado Plateau appears to divert initially west-southwesterly winds away from the Grand Canyon causing plume particles to avoid the sensitive northern Arizona/Grand Canyon region. It can be speculated that a meteorological model simulation initialized with low-level westerly winds instead of westsouthwesterly winds might bring a greater percentage of particles to the Grand Canyon. Such a simulation would not be representative of the WHITEX period, however.

500 m Release: SWP-2d

SWP-2d had considerably different characteristics than the 'boundary layer releases' SWP-2a through c. The reason for the majority of the difference is that the release level is within the boundary layer for such a short period of time during day 1 of the simulation that its particles are less terrain-influenced. Figure 4.15 still approximately represents SWP-2d, however.

More scrutinizing analysis of the potential temperature fields for SW-2 indicates that the boundary layer on the marine or western side of the mountains (the marine boundary layer) is considerably shallower than the boundary layer elsewhere, especially the high desert (see Figure 4.10) during daylight hours. Since SWP-2d releases its particles within this marine region (on the coast of California), the fact that the marine boundary layer only exceeds 500 m for a short period (approximately 2 hours) compared to SWP-2a through c is significant.

During SWP-2d considerable differences arise in the early portion. During the stable morning period, 0-4 hours of day 1, the particles accumulate in the LA Basin, simply at a higher level than the other releases. In the 4-12 hour period the particles continue to accumulate early, until approximately hour six. At this point the boundary layer has grown enough to influence some of the particles. The particles in lower levels are taken up in boundary layer flow and are subject to similar mechanisms as described in the previous section; they are transported through Cajon and Banning Passes. Where SWP-2d differs is by the behavior of those particles residing at high levels, above boundary layer effects. By mid-afternoon, model adjusted fields above the boundary layer (the level of SWP-2d's release) are more westerly and not subject to upslope effects. This causes the upperlevel SWP-2d particles to travel eastward in more stable, upper-atmosphere layers. These particles travel at this horizontal level eastward into the desert regions by early evening where they accumulate in the lower levels.

Although one might expect the next day to effect the particles of the 500 m release in the same fashion, it does not. The reason for this appears to be the deeper growth of the boundary layer during day 2 (28-36 hours). Because the boundary layer grows to 600-700 m on day 2, the particle transport on day 2 is essentially the same as that described in the previous section (SWP-2a-c) for that period.

What are the implications of these differences? What are their causes? The implications are that during WHITEX pollutants which might have accumulated through stagnation to high levels (i.e. 500 m) prior to the event could be transported in large quantities to the eastern portions of the LA Basin. This has little effect on conclusions about the effect of LA Basin pollutants on the Grand Canyon region, however, because once in the deep boundary layer of the high desert these particles are transported in southerlies such that they, too, pass to the west of Grand Canyon National Park. No additional impact on the Grand Canyon due to their higher release level is found. This may have caused the boundary layer to grow to a lesser extent on day 1 than day 2.

Surface to 500 m Release: SWP-2e

Because SWP-2e releases particles from all levels from the surface to 500 m, its characteristics are a combination of those effects described in the sections for SWP-2a through d (as shown in Figure 4.15. Although SWP-2e reveals no new information on impacts of LA Basin pollutants on the Grand Canyon, it does represent a different scenario than SWP-2a-d. By nature of its configuration, SWP-2e mimics a severe stagnation event

in the LA Basin where pollutants have accumulated under an elevated stable layer to 500 m in significant concentration. In this case, mixing particles to 1000 m or higher represents a dilution factor of 2, whereas the 20 m thick releases (SWP-2a-d) were subject to a dilution factor of 50 by the same mixing. SWP-2e represents another level of conservationism in LA Basin impact assessment which is addressed in the upcoming discussion of SWP-2.

SWP-2: Discussion

It is seen that pollutants released at essentially any level near the surface in the LA Basin in winter conditions are diluted strongly by natural atmospheric processes for this case study. The dilution process prevents the LA Basin plume from reaching the Grand Canyon in large concentrations during this simulated period. The actual impact of what concentration does reach the Grand Canyon during WHITEX is implied to be quite low. Given a dilution factor of 100 (although 200 or higher might more often be found) for a worst case estimate, and an average LA Basin initial concentration of PM-10 (particles less than 10 microns) particles of 60 μ g m³⁻¹, the Grand Canyon impact could roughly be 0.6 μ g m³⁻¹. With mean PM-10 concentrations from March 1988 to February 1991 of approximately 9 μ g m³⁻¹ from the National Park Service Fine Particle Network, the LA Basin contribution to Grand Canyon haze is speculated to be at most 6.6% during the February 10-13, 1987 haze period based on this model simulation. Estimates of the potential impact of LA Basin pollutants on the Grand Canyon with different levels of dilution are presented in Table 4.2.

Results are presented for boundary layer growth to 500 and 1000 meters, the 500 meter assumption being an added measure of conservatism representing the case where the model predicted boundary layer growth was too great because cloud effects were not represented in these dry simulations. The worst case surface, wintertime PM-10 measurement in the LA Basin (236 μ g m⁻³ San Bernardino County, CARB, 1986), is divided by a given dilution factor to determine the μ g m⁻³ estimated concentration impact of the LA Basin at the Grand Canyon. The concentration impact is translated into an estimated percent impact simply by dividing it by a wintertime PM-10 haze condition measurement in the Grand Canyon. For the representative haze Grand Canyon measurement, a value of 50 Table 4.2: Estimates of Los Angeles Basin pollutant impact on Grand Canyon National Park haze conditions during February 10-13, 1987 with differencing levels of dilution. The information presented is based on LPDM results for SW-2 and maximum PM-10 concentrations of pollutants of 236 μ g/m³ and 50.0 μ g/m³ for the LA Basin and the Grand Canyon, respectively. The initial number of particles in all cases was 100.

LPDM Run (6)	Initial Release Depth (m)	Final Pollutant Depth	Dilution due to Vertical Mixing	Final # of Particles	Dilution due to Horizontal Dispersion	Total Dilution	Estimated Impact (%)
SWP-2a-d	20	1000	50	5	20	1000	0.46
	20	500	25	5	20	500	0.92
SWP-2e	500	1000	2	5	20	40	11.8
	500	500	1	5	20	20	23.6

 μ g/m³ is used (based on high concentration values in the Grand Canyon, measured by the Western Fire Particle Network, March 1988 – February 1991). For SWP-2e's 500 meter deep release into a 1000 meter boundary layer depth, the total dilution is 40. In this case, the LA Basin impact concentration at the Grand Canyon would be 5.9 μ g/m³. Using the 50 μ g/m³ value as representative of typical Grand Canyon haze conditions, the percent impact of the LA Basin release would be 11.8%.

The calculations presented in Table 4.2 are based on a number of conservative assumptions including: (1) the surface maximum concentration value in the LA Basin (236 μ g/m³) is valid from the surface to 500 m, (2) for the cases where a 500 m final depth is used, the particles did not mix to the model diagnosed boundary layer depth of ~1000 meters, (3) wet and dry deposition processes were ignored, (4) each particle reaching GCNP does become mixed into the Grand Canyon boundary layer and is not transported away aloft, and (5) chemical conversion processes are unimportant. Given these conservatisms and the small magnitude of the estimated percent impact of the LA Basin on Grand Canyon concentration, that LA Basin pollutants might be the primary contributor to WHITEX haze during the February 10-13, 1987 period is unlikely.

These changes will be thermised in the next particul. Forresponding of nexts a transport (2001-3) are fit assed directly ofter the new coolegies that is

4.5 SW-3: Simulation Analysis

As described previously, SW-3 differs from SW-2 by nature of its nest of 8 km grid increment over the LA Basin (see Figure 4.1). This allows greater terrain accuracy (Fig-



Figure 4.16: The terrain used on Grid 3 of SW-3. Note the greater detail in this plot compared with Figure 4.8 which has 24 km grid increments. Cajon Pass shows up considerably better (marked with a C). Banning Pass is marked with a B.

ure 4.16) and far better resolution of mesoscale meteorological processes. Generally, the inclusion of a fine nest increases the ability of the meteorological model, RAMS, to produce vertical motion. Obviously, this increased motion will affect particle transport as well. A more accurate picture of the terrain combined with the considerably greater atmospheric resolution creates significant changes in atmospheric fields compared to SW-2. These changes will be discussed in the next section. Corresponding changes in particle transport (SWP-3) are discussed directly after the meteorological results.

4.5.1 Meteorological Results: SW-3

Potential Temperature

Figure 4.17 shows the evolution of potential temperature on an x - z plane passing through the northern part of Banning Pass along the LA Basin transect. By comparing this cross section to Figure 4.10 of the SW-2 discussion (which transects the same location) one can see how severely the difference in grid increment (24 km to 8 km) in the fine grid of SW-3 effects terrain depiction. Note the difference in the representation of the mountain centered at -175 km in Figure 4.17 compared to Figure 4.10.

This and other terrain differences induce significant changes in the potential temperature field of SW-3. The primary difference in potential temperature is in the magnitude of the mountain-induced waves. Note the increased amplitude of the wave induced by the mountain in the case of SW-3 throughout the time period of Figure 4.18. The evolution of the boundary layer in SW-3 is very much like that of SW-2. Its depth and location are nearly identical except in locations where nest differences create differing terrain features. SW-3 contains more abrupt changes in boundary depth with distance as shown in the region surrounding the mountain in Figure 4.18. Other cross sections show the same trends as described above although they are not shown here.

Horizontal Wind

The horizontal winds in SW-3 was quite consistent with SW-2, especially outside of the finest nest of SW-3. This is to be expected since outside of Grid 3 the grid increment (and therefore, terrain representation) is identical. A number of changes, however, occur within the bounds of Grid 3, SW-3's finest nest. Figure 4.19 presents horizontal wind vectors of SW-3 for Grid 2 during the 24-hour period from 20 to 44 hours into the simulation at 73.2m. This figure is comparable to Figure 4.12 which shows the same period for SW-2. Many features are quite similar:

- The convergence line to the north of Los Angeles along the San Gabriel mountains.
- The anticyclone circulation to the east of the southern Sierras.

BAWS A MENNING MARKED AND A LAW

Proven of the new off



Figure 4.17: The evolution of potential temperature from 20 to 44 hours of the simulation in 4-hour increments on Grid 2 (first nest) for SW-3 on the LA Basin transect. This cross section location is depicted in Figure 4.11.





eo 107



Figure 4.17: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



Figure 4.17: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.



Figure 4.18: The same as Figure 4.17 but for Grid 3 through the LA Basin at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. Note the greater terrain resolution.



Figure 4.18: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.







Figure 4.19: Horizontal wind vectors on Grid 2 for SW-3 at 73.2 m for the 24-hour period between 20 and 44 hours of the simulation at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. The longest vector represents ~ 10 m s⁻¹.



Figure 4.19: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.19: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.

- The tumme of the wind away from the Colorador "Lateau is variant Advence."
- I've or ustack victory estimation as the southwestern proceeding the matrix and the statement of the matrix
- The matrix of the dependence and energies only 0.6 to the first of the SAR of the contract 24 bout property of the ¹¹⁴ for SW-2 value of the entities of ¹¹⁶.

Differences after for the eases part of this of real conclusion for an of the of the ease of the ease

The straight of the convergence thoug the Sam Cabriel mountains and a fille of the conversion of the better result of which is the second and the fille of which is the second of the better result of an interaction of which is the better result of an interaction of which is the result of the better result of an interaction of the better result of a strain of the better result of an interaction of which is the better result of an interaction of the better result of a strain of the better result of a strain of the better result of an interaction of the better result of a strain of the better result of a strain of the better result of

stropytout open relation provid of 54. Althourburk and a second and a second of 54. Non-the Californicial actual border and tautholowest of clic Storess which have fill remain at reprintmatication. The testure to consistent between SMLs and 2014, the construction of the



Figure 4.19: (g) 0800Z, hour 44.

differen des ale technible.

- The turning of the wind away from the Colorado Plateau in eastern Arizona.
- The consistency of southwesterly flow over the southwestern part of the Grid 2 domain.
- The maximum windspeed averages only 0.6 m s⁻¹ less than that of SW-2 during the 24-hour period (10.2 m s⁻¹ for SW-3 vs. 10.8 m s⁻¹ for SW-2).

Differences arise for the most part within or near the Grid 3 area. Winds over the ocean back more in SW-3, being more southerly than SW-2 at the similar times.

The strength of the convergence along the San Gabriel mountains increases in SW-3. Divergence of winds around the better resolved mountains of San Bernardino National Forest is considerably more evident, as is convergence into Cajon Pass. Within Grid 3 in the LA Basin over land, windspeeds drop somewhat, approaching 0 m s⁻¹ in one location.

At 1033 m (not shown) the horizontal winds in SW-3 are consistently southwest throughout the simulation period of 54. Although not shown, a southerly wind develops along the California/Arizona border and to the west of the Sierras which lasts throughout the simulation. This feature is consistent between SW-3 and SW-2. For the most part, differences (and even these are small) exist over the Grid 3 area. Slight directional differences appear in time reflecting the model's adjustment to the better terrain resolution in Grid 3. For instance, at 1200Z winds in the LA Basin for SW-3 appear to be considerably more diverted by terrain, in this case the San Bernardino National Forest region, than in SW-2. Also, between 1600Z and 2000Z in SW-3, LA Basin winds drop from 3-4 m s⁻¹ to 0-2 m s⁻¹ whereas in SW-2 winds drop to 2-3 m s⁻¹ for the same period.

At approximately 3 km terrain influence drops off considerably. In fact, velocity differences between SW-3 and SW-2 are quite limited and hardly detectable at this height over the simulation period. Over the 24-hour period (20-44 hours of the simulations) the maximum windspeed of SW-3 is 0.17 m s⁻¹ higher than SW-2, while vector direction differences are negligible.



Figure 4.20: Vertical motion for SW-3 at +120 km on Grid 2 for hours 20 to 44 into the simulation in 4 hour increments at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. This passes through the Grand Canyon region. The contour interval is 3 cm s^{-1} .



Figure 4.20: (c) 1600Z, hour 28; and (d) 2000Z, hour 32.



Figure 4.20: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.





Figure 4.21: Vertical motion for SW-3 at -120 km on Grid 3 for hours 20 to 44 in 4 hour increments at (a) 0800Z, hour 20; and (b) 1200Z, hour 24. This passes through the LA Basin and Banning Pass. The contour interval is 5 cm s⁻¹.





Figure 4.21: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0040Z, hour 40.



m Vertical Wind such digeb as 05 to excellent and the entry M.C.S.I. and very such

Vertical wind profiles for SW-3 on Grids 2 and 3 are shown in Figure 4.20.

The additional capability of RAMS to resolve vertical motion with decreasing grid increment can easily be seen by comparing 4.20 and 4.21. Note the strength differences; on Grid 2 the magnitude of the largest vertical motion is 8 cm s⁻¹ at 1600Z, on Grid 3 the maximum magnitude at 1600Z is 30 cm s⁻¹. Obviously, such differences are important with respect to pollutant transport. Larger vertical motions not only increase the depth of the boundary layer but bring pollutants to higher levels in the atmosphere subjecting them to higher horizontal windspeeds as well.

Concentrating on Grid 3 (Figure 4.21) because the Grid 2 vertical motion analysis is much the same as that for SW-2, what mesoscale meteorological attributes are better represented by Grid 3 in relation to w? The most noticeable difference is the strength of the mountain-induced downward/up ward vertical motion couplet. The finer scale evolution of this feature is evident in time to an extent unresolved in SW-2 on Grid 2. Also easily seen is the diurnal cycle of upslope heating on the mountainside. Note in Figure 4.21 that the morning hours (1200Z and 1600Z) show little or no vertical motion along the mountain, but by 2000Z (2 p.m.) strong upslope ascent of 20 cm s⁻¹ has formed on the western slope and upslope caused upward motion of 10 cm s^{-1} on the eastern slope. Toward sundown (sun shining on western slope only) at 0000Z upslope only remains on the western slope having weakened to an ascent of 15 cm s⁻¹. The eastern slope's upslope has reversed and become downslope; perhaps combining with the mountain wave on the eastern side to create strong descent of 30 cm s^{-1} . Overnight the western upslope deteriorates completely; the eastern side downslope is more persistent, lasting until early morning when the eastern side atmosphere has so stabilized that the mountain induced downslope has stopped. Note that the upslope regime lasts only 6 hours during the highest sun during these winter conditions.

4.5.2 LPDM Results: SWP-3 and result and result of some second transfer

As with SW-1 and SW-2, five simulations of particle transport were completed for SW-3, SWP-3a through SWP-3e. The five runs of SWP-3 were identical in configuration to the previous LPDM runs with an area release of 20 m depth for a) surface, b) 100 m, c) 250 m, d) 500 m, and a volume release e) extending from the surface to 500 m. Since these runs are exactly similar to the previous LPDM runs in configuration, the influence of increased terrain and meteorological resolution of SW-3 is shown by this analysis.

Because of the higher resolution on Grid 3 of SW-3 mesoscale motions were better represented. The resulting fields were more complex and contained distinctly stronger vertical motions than SW-2. Particle model analysis of SWP-2 revealed the importance of vertical motion to particle transport, particularly in reference to boundary layer mixing.

The meteorological differences between SW-3 and SW-2 manifest themselves as particle transport details in SWP-3. More specifically the particle simulations of SW-3, SWP-3a-e, vary in large part by the vertical placement of particles in time compared to those of SWP-2. This, in turn, creates minor differences in horizontal position generally, with major differences on occasion. As with the SWP-2 discussion for briefly only one figure representing the time evolution of the surface to 500 m release (in this case, SWP-3e) will be referred to throughout the upcoming discussion (Figure 4.22). In essence, the SWP-3 set of simulations maintains the general patterns of SWP-2. For this reason, as with the earlier descriptions, only differences will be emphasized, and the set of five simulations are grouped together in the discussion.

The animation of the 54-hour period of continuous particle surface release for the LA Basin reveals the numerous effects of Grid 3 on particle positions in time. Many of the main features seen in SWP-2 are found in SWP-3a, as seen in Figure 4.22. The following were repeated in a general sense: 1) trapping of pollutants in the LA Basin and the high desert during stable atmospheric periods with low wind flow, 2) katabatic flows transporting pollutants westward to converge with southwesterly winds over and near the ocean, 3) mixing of particles deep within the boundary layer of Los Angeles allowing transport through passes and over mountains, 4) mixing of particles in the deep, high desert boundary layer to the point where they are caught in stronger, southerly winds at higher altitudes, and 5) the lack of significant numbers of particles crossing Grand Canyon National Park boundaries.



Figure 4.22: The time evolution of particle positions for SWP-3e from 1 to 54 hours (a) 1300Z, hour 1; and (b) 2100Z, hour 9. Note the greater detail compared to Figure 4.15.







Figure 4.22: (e) 0000Z, hour 36; and (f) 0900Z, hour 45.



There were also a number of significant changes to the pollutant pathways within Grid 3. The most detectable change is the extent of the convergence zone along the mountains to the north of Los Angeles. In the SWP-3a analysis this convergence contains the particles in narrow bands along the mountainsides. This implies that the capability of the finer nest to include steeper slopes has led to more distinct convergence zones in this area. This further implies that the more accuracy within a RAMS simulation of the terrain, the finer the detail able to be analyzed. In a complex terrain region such as the LA Basin-Grand Canyon corridor this limitation is of utmost importance for accurate particle transport. Additional changes evident in SWP-3a are: 1) more distinct pathways out of the LA Basin; 2) more detailed circulation and movement of pollutants over the Mohave desert; 3) less uniform dispersion; and 4) particles are injected by the stronger vertical motions resolved on Grid 3 to greater altitudes resulting in greater mixing and dispersion of the initial plume concentration.

The increased vertical motion on Grid 3 of SW-3 augments mixing and subsequent boundary layer depth. As a result, throughout the particle simulations pollutants mix sooner and deeper. This includes the 500 m release (SWP-3d) where, by comparison to SWP-2d, the particles at this height is were far more influenced by the boundary layer on day 1. SWP-3d shows boundary layer depths exceeding release height (500 m) on day 1 due to increased mixing on Grid 3. Overnight SWP-3d is still above drainage flows for the most part, as was SWP-2d.

The upslope injection of particles was also increased over Grid 3. The strong upslope flow vents the LA Basin for a period of approximately 3 hours, 1 p.m. - 4 p.m., particularly through the mountain passes. The animation reveals Cajon Pass as a major pollutant pathway out of Los Angeles. Cajon Pass is considerably more evident in SWP-3 compared to SWP-2 for two reasons: 1) the better resolved flow field, and 2) the more detailed terrain. In the case of SWP-3 Cajon Pass is represented truly as a pass, a low point between mountains. In SWP-2, Cajon Pass is smoothed into a ridge-like structure on its western side due to poorer terrain resolution. Particles are brought to about 200 m higher than in SWP-2 on average because of greater boundary layer development.

Regardless of the level initially released between 0-500 m, a small number of particles are locally injected to higher altitudes than even the larger boundary layer. This phenomena appears to occur as eastward moving particles (as distinct from *northeast* moving particles, i.e Cajon Pass bound) encounter the high peaks of San Bernardino National Forest. These peaks are represented as one large peak on Grid 3. Strong upslope flow, a large amplitude mountain wave and increasing wind flow with height appear responsible for the injection into more stable and consistent windflow aloft. These particles then move east-northeastward at approximately 1.5 km above ground level at a rate considerably higher than achieved by particles in the lowest kilometer. Whereas particles in SWP-2 breached the Grand Canyon region at ~36 hours, these particles reach the region, albeit at significantly higher levels at ~28 hours. The strong vertical motions induced by the inclusion of Grid 3 to SW-3 have drastically changed the horizontal transport of some particles.

While affecting the rate of horizontal transport, vertical motions do not affect the general nature of pollutant horizontal location with respect to SW-2. The diurnal cycle of particles; 1) being trapped in the shallow, marine boundary layer, 2) mixing deeply within the daytime boundary layer such that they reach the high desert, and 3) stagnating overnight in the stable atmospheric conditions, is similar to SW-2. The inclusion of the fine nest appears to be very important to resolving fine scale (i.e. mesoscale pollutant movements) but perhaps as important as the accurate atmospheric physics of RAMS is the realistic, detailed depiction of the terrain in the simulated region. Greater terrain accuracy allows the model physics and parameterizations to operate on more appropriate levels vertically. Wind flows then follow and respond to terrain variations appropriately as the diurnal cycle evolves. Given that anthropogenic sources of pollutants are primarily within the depth of the daytime boundary layer and that atmospheric responses within the boundary layer are drastically affected by terrain, the terrain resolution is of utmost importance to pollutant mixing, transport, and pathway detections. The comparison of SW-2 and SW-3 help refine this conclusion.

then in SWP a on average because of greater boundary layer development
Chapter 5

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

5.1 Summary

This study sought to determine the potential for the transport of Los Angeles Basin pollutants to the Grand Canyon region under the influence of initially worst case conditions during the WHITEX study period. While WHITEX, through tracer releases, determined the Navajo Generating Station (located near Page, AZ approximately 80 km from the Northern Rim of the Grand Canyon) to be the primary contributor to very poor visibility conditions in the Grand Canyon during February 10-13, 1989, critics argue that southwesterly winds aloft would carry Los Angeles Basin pollutants to the Canyon in large enough concentration to implicate it as a major source, and subsequently, cast doubt on the WHITEX conclusions. The conclusion of the WHITEX study of the existence of low-level, non-southwesterly winds was not challenged.

To investigate these claims, three meteorological simulations utilizing the RAMS model (as described in Chapter 3) were devised. All used a horizontally homogeneous initialization where the sounding was composited subjectively from actual morning soundings during the February 10-13, 1989 period from San Diego, CA, Las Vegas, NV, and Winslow, AZ. To approximate hypothesized initial worst case conditions a 251° wind direction was used at all atmospheric levels (a straight line toward the Grand Canyon from the LA Basin); this direction lies within the typical range of winds aloft during the February 10-13 period. This initialization is not expected to result in the worst case LA Basin impact at the Grand Canyon, only to represent the worst case of the argument against the WHITEX conclusions that scuthwesterlies aloft would have created a strong LA Basin impact at the Grand Canyon during the February 10-13, 1987 period. Additional details

Table 5.1: A brief overview of the components and goals of the three meteorological simulations used in this study.

Simulation		Grid			Terrain		GOALS
	Name	#	Increment	Extent	Туре	Resolution	an surfigure for a star
- 1	SW-1	1 2	72 km 24 km	40 × 27 44 ×29	Flat Flat	Saur <u>n</u> ry	SW-1 serves a dual purpose as a control simulation
,89	ומראז ופוייגו	-styra			W		and an absolute, worst-case. It represented a no-terrain-
5.4	os, vietelos s	105 JI			san() (tach		effect environment for an LA-Grand Canyon release.
X27	SW-2	1	72 km	40×27	Realistic	144 km	SW-2, by using realistic
Эњ) -	9. mitica ac	2	24 km	44 × 29	Realistic	48 km	though smoothed terrain, investigated the influence of terrain on meteorological
34	the Canyoz	es be			y and have		fields. By comparison to
$t^{(1)}$	nob teas (, 1	ap			e it as a m		SW-1 a measure of the
lo	97.25 with 194	5 I R			e natar e	er na Road	to flow was determined. Major pollutant pathways
					Bane vita		and general transport trends were determined.
8.9	SW-3	1	72 km	40×27	Realistic	144 km	By adding a finer nest around
		2	24 km	44 × 29	Realistic	4 <mark>8</mark> km	the Los Angeles region,
e u e	eusSoutet A	3	8 km	56 × 38	Realistic	16 km	additional detail above that garnered in SW-2 was
-0.1	nos Sunos	n USUN I			uni isoqum	o wawi Libuan	sought. The expected
5n	5 V X 18 39	1 a.c.			of Initiat		vertical motion increase within Grid 3 affected
∂b	uniw °188 a	800	itičnos eas	terror la	tili bortes	Litter dietau	particle transport to the Grand Canyon.

of each simulation are shown in Table 5.1. Each simulation (SW-1 through SW-3) was non-hydrostatic, and 3-D, included radiation, soil, and surface parameterizations, used 150 and 50 second timesteps on the 72 km and 24 km grids, respectively, and had the same domain volume. The timestep of the fine grid of SW-3 (8 km grid movement) was 16.6 seconds. Each of the three RAMS simulations was successfully run for a 54 hour period beginning at 12Z and ending at 18Z two days later. Model fields were consistent and stable, representing numerous atmospheric features realistically. These included boundary layer growth and decay in marine or continental, flat or complex environments, upslope flow, katabatic drainage flow, convergence and divergence regions due to blocked flow, mountain-induced waves and their vertical extent and inertial oscillations. The existence and extent of these features varied with simulation terrain configuration.

Once the meteorological RAMS simulations were complete, a set of five Lagrangian Particle Dispersion Model runs were completed for each of SW-1 through SW-3. By using RAMS generated u, v, and w wind components over a 54 hour period, and internally diagnosed turbulent and random flow components, the LPDM advected particles released within the RAMS domain. One particle was randomly released every 250 seconds from within an area source $29 \times 29 \text{ km} - 1$) at the surface, 2) at 100 m, 3) at 250 m, 4) at 500 m, and 5) 500 m in depth. The purposes of the particle releases were to describe the general nature of pollutant movement from the LA Basin, determine the portion of pollutants impacting the Grand Canyon region and understand what levels, if any, were most significant for particles reaching the Grand Canyon.

5.2 Conclusions

The three meteorological simulations and fifteen LPDM runs revealed much about Los Angeles Basin pollutant transport. SW-1, without terrain, had little horizontal dispersion within the stable wintertime atmosphere under the influence of little changing wind velocity throughout the domain. Vertical mixing was significant during daylight hours when the boundary layer deepened, diluting the pollutants 50 times (a 20 meter deep layer expands to a 1000 meter depth due to boundary layer mixing) approximately. If pollutants were able to travel in the stable overnight period to the Grand Canyon, their dispersion would be significantly reduced, but generally, and definitely in this case study, winds are too weak for this to occur. It was found that in this idealistic worst-case, flat terrain simulation where particles are confined to their original release depth that the absolute least amount of dilution of LA Basin particles is four (i.e. 25% of original concentration as described in 4.3.2). This would significantly impact Grand Canyon visibility *if* the pollutants were entrained into the Canyon environment and *if* flat terrain existed in the LA-Grand Canyon corridor.

Comparing SW-1 to SW-2 showed the importance of the complex terrain between Los Angeles and the Grand Canyon to dispersion. Pathways from the LA Basin were revealed to be primarily Cajon and Banning passes, although at peak boundary layer depth particles could rise over most mountains and travel eastward. Because the model terrain is smoothed (lowered in altitude) to approximately 80% of true height for higher peaks, the latter pathway may be overemphasized. Due to terrain forcing, three distinct routes of pollutant movement occur once particles have exited the LA Basin: 1) to the east of the Sierra Nevada Mountains, moving northward, 2) to the west of the Sierra Nevada Mountains moving northward, and 3) along the Arizona/Nevada border toward the northeast into Southern and Central Utah. The far eastern edge of the latter group of particles crosses Grand Canyon National Park's western edge. No particles are transported directly eastward into southern Arizona. These pathways appear to be forced by terrain variations and their associated meteorological effects as described earlier.

Horizontal dispersion is so drastically different is SW-2 compared to SW-1 that an order of magnitude fewer particles cross the Grand Canyon region. In the case of SW-2 then, the worst-case dilution factor is 50 (2% of original concentration) for pollutants released from the LA Basin. Using the highest PM-10 value recorded in the LA Basin at San Bernadino County during the winter of 1986 as a worst-case scenario release, 236 μ g/m³ (CARB, 1986), and the maximum PM-10 value measured in the Grand Canyon between March 1988 and February 1991 as a representative poor haze condition during WHITEX, 76.5 μ g/m³, a rough contribution calculation can be done. In this case, the LA Basin contribution to the Grand Canyon's PM-10 concentration is approximately 6%.

SW-3's fine nest in the LA Basin caused significant alterations in the details of meteorological fields compared with SW-2. Vertical motions were better resolved, strong, and more terrain feature specific. Particles released into this environment were subject to strong mixing and higher injection. For the most part, however, the general particle pathways were similar. Cajon and Banning Passes became more distinct routes for particles. The three routes for the particles cnce they exit the LA Basin remain the same in SW-3 as SW-2 although with more detailed features. The dilution factor remains essentially the same in the worst case, 50 for SW-3, perhaps slightly higher. This implies that while a finer resolution is necessary for detailed pollutant transport analysis over short-range, the of long-range transport in complex terrain in this region are sufficiently modeled with lesser resolution for meteorologically consistent winds. Apparently the diurnal cycling of pollutants from a source in repetitive weather periods (i.e. the stagnant weather of WHITEX), mixes particles to such an extent by the time they arrive at distances >100 km or so, detailed characteristics are the flow near the source are relatively important.

These results suggest that the potential contribution of Los Angeles pollution to Grand Canyon air quality was low during the WHITEX period. While critics of the WHITEX report suggested the LA Basin source might be responsible for as much as 60 or 70% of the poor haze conditions, these simulations indicate otherwise. The terrain southwest of the Grand Canyon provides a natural dilution during the winter of pollution transport from the Los Angeles area to the Grand Canyon during stable, wintertime conditions with southwesterly flow. Forcing of mesoscale flows by existing terrain in the LA-Grand Canyon corridor appears to be sufficiently large so that dispersion proceeds to the point where the Los Angeles pollutant impact on the Grand Canyon during this WHITEX period (February 10-13, 1987) was negligible.

4 ration (C., where stars at an angle west measure model for all polls and ware det at the poll of the same distances. Air Polls and the starge on the conference for the C. and the same distances. Air polls and the same of the sector for the C. and the same distances of the same sector.

REFERENCES

- Air Resources Board, 1982: State of California Air Resources Board emissions inventory 1979. Prepared by the Stationary Source Control Division Emission Inventory Branch, California Air Resources Board, Sacramento, CA.
- Arakawa, A. and V.R. Lamb, 1981: A potential enstrophy and energy conserving scheme for the shallow water equations. *Mon. Wea. Rev.*, **109**, 18-36.
- Artz, R., R.A. Pielke and J. Galloway, 1985: Comparisons of the ARL/ATAD Constant Level and NCAR Isentropic Trajectory Analyses for Selected Case Studies. Atmos. Environ., 19, 47-63.
- Ashbaugh, L.L., 1983: A statistical trajectory technique for determining air pollution source regions. J. Air Waste Management Assoc., 33, No. 11.
- Ashbaugh, L.L., L.O. Myrup, and R.G. Flocchini, 1984: Surface layer transport of sulfate particles in the western U.S. by the large-scale wind field. *Mon. Wea. Rev.*, 112, 1067-1073.
- Barrie, L.A., M.P. Olson, and K.K. Oikawa, 1989: The flux of anthropogenic sulfur into the arctic from mid-latitudes in 1979/80. Atmos. Environ., 23, 2505-2512.
- Bastable, H.G., D.P. Rogers, and D.E. Schorran, 1990: Tracers of opportunity and pollutant transport in southern California. *Atmos. Environ.*, 24B, 137-151.
- Blondin, C., 1981: Interest of an atmospheric mesoscale model for air pollution transport studies over medium distances. Air Pollution Modeling and Its Application I. Ed.,
 D. De Wispelaere, Plenum Press, New York.

Blondin, C., 1984: Meteorology of medium-range transport of pollution. Atmos. Environ., 18, 537-544.

- Blumenthal, D.L., L.W. Richards, E.S. Macias, R.W. Berstrom, W.E. Wilson, and P.S.
 Bhardwaja, 1981: Effects of a coal-fired power plant and other sources on southwestern visibility (Interim summary of EPA's Project VISTTA). Atmos. Environ., 15, 1995-1969.
- Bossert, J.E., 1990: Regional-scale flows in complex terrain: An observational and numerical investigation. Ph.D. Dissertation, Atmospheric Science Department, Paper #472, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523.
- Bresch, J.F. and E.R. Reiter, 1987 Case study of an unusual long-range sulfur transport episode. J. Appl. Meteor., 26, 315pp.
- Businger, J.A., J.C. Wyngaard, Y. Izumi, and E.F. Bradley, 1971: Flux-profile relationship in the atmosphere surface layer. J. Atmos. Sci., 28, 181-189.

CARB, 1986: California air quality data, January-February-March 1986. California Air Resources Board, Aerometric Data Division, Vol. XVII, No. 1.

- Cass, G.R., 1978: Methods for sulfate air quality management with applications to Los Angeles. Ph.D. Thesis, California Institute of Technology. Available from University Microfilms, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Cass, G.R. and F.H. Shair, 1980: Transport of sulfur oxides within the Los Angeles sea breeze/land breeze circulation system. From papers of the Second Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology, March 24-27, New Orleans, LA.
- Chen, C. and W.R. Cotton, 1983a: A one-dimensional simulation of the stratocumuluscapped mixed layer. *Bound.-Layer Meteor.*, 25, 289-321.

- Chen, C. and W.R. Cotton, 1983b: Numerical experiments with a one-dimensional higher order turbulence model: Simulation of the Wangara Day 33 case. Bound.-Layer Meteor., 25, 375-404.
- Clarke, J.F., T.L. Clark, J.K.S. Ching, P.L. Haagenson, R.B. Husar, and D.E. Patterson, 1983: Assessment of model simulation of long-distance transport. Atmos. Environ., 17, 2449-2462.
- Cotton, W.R., M.A. Stephens, T. Nehrkorn, and G.J. Tripoli, 1982: The Colorado State University cloud/mesoscale model-1982. Part II: An ice phase parameterization. J. Rech. Atmos., 16, 295-320.
- Cotton, W.R., C.J. Tremback, and R.L. Walko, 1988: CSU RAMS A cloud model goes regional. Proc. NCAR Workshop on Limited-Area Modeling Intercomparison, Nov. 15-18, NCAR, Boulder, CO, 202-211.
 - Crabtree, J. and M. Kitchen, 1984: The long-range travel and dispersion of the plume from the Mount St. Helens volcano. Atmos. Environ., 18, 1073-1079.
 - D'Almeida, G.A., 1986: A model for Saharan dust transport. Mon. Wea. Rev., 1986, July, 903pp.
 - Demerjian, K.L., 1984: Quantifying uncertainty in long-range transport models. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc., 66, 1533-1539.
- Eldred, R.A., L.L. Ashbaugh, T.A. Ghill, R.G. Flocchini, and M.L. Pitchford, 1983: Sulfate levels in the southwest during the 1980 copper smelter strike. J. Air Poll. Control Assoc., 33, 110-113.
- Eliassen, A., 1980: A review of long-range transport modeling. J. Appl. Meteor., 19, 231-240.

- Eliassen, A., O. Hov, I.S.A. Isaksen, J. Saltbones, and F. Stordal, 1982: A Lagrangian long-range transport model with atmospheric boundary layer chemistry. J. Appl. Meteor., 21, 1645-1661.
- Environmental Protection Agency, 1991a: Approval and Promulgation of Implementation Plans: Revision of the Visibility FIP for Arizona. Federal Register, 56, No. 27, February 8, p. 5173.
- Environmental Protection Agency, 1991b: Approval and Promulgation of Implementation Plans: Revision of the Visibility FIP for Arizona. Federal Register, 56, No. 156, August 13, p. 38399.
 - Feigley, C.E. and H.E. Jeffries, 1979: Analysis of processes affecting oxidant and precursors in the Los Angeles reactive pollutant program (LARPP) operation 33. Atmos. Environ., 13, 1369-1384.
 - Fisher, B.E.A., 1984: A review of the processes and models of long-range transport of air pollutants. Atmos. Environ., 17, 1865-1880.
 - Fisher, B.E.A., 1984: The long-range transport of air pollutants Some thought on the state of modeling. *Atmos. Environ.*, 18, 553-562.
- Flatau, P.J., G.J. Tripoli, J. Verlinde, and W.R. Cotton, 1989: The CSU-RAMS cloud microphysics module: General theory and code documentation. Atmospheric Science Paper No. 451, Colorado State University, Dept. of Atmospheric Science, Fort Collins, CO 80523.
- Fung, C.S., E. Alp, and R.V. Portelli, 1985: Evaluation of Lagrangian long-range transport models. Presented at CMOS Congress in Montreal, June 12-14, Concord Scientific Corporation, Downview, Ontario.
- Gal-Chen, T. and R.C.J. Somerville, 1975a: On the use of a coordinate transformation for the solution of the Navier-Stokes equations. J. Comput. Phys., 17, 209-228.

Gal-Chen, T. and R.C.J. Somerville, 1975b: Numerical solution to the Navier-Stokes equations with topography. J. Comput. Phys., 17, 276-310.

Grant, W.B., 1981: Measurement of ozone transport from the Los Angeles Basin using the airborne laser absorption spectrometer and a Dasibi ozone monitor. Prepared for the California Air Resources Board, Sacramento, CA, #A0-30-31.

Grisinger, J.E., M. Yamada, G. Thomas, J. Maloney, P. Wuebben, and R. Bradley, 1982:
1979 Emissions inventory for the South Coast Air Basin - Revised October 1982.
South Coast Air Quality Management District, El Monte, CA.

Hall, F.P., Jr., C.E. Duchon, L.G. Lee, and R.R. Hagan, 1973: Long-range transport of air pollution: A case study. August, 1970, Mon. Wea. Rev., 101, 404-411.

- Henmi, T. and J.F. Bresch, 1985: Meteorological case studies of regional high sulfur episodes in the western U.S. Atmos. Environ., 19, 1783-1796.
- Hering, S.V., J.L. Bowen, J.G. Wengert, and L.W. Richards, 1981: Characterization of the regional haze in the southwestern U.S. Atmos. Environ., 15, 1999-2009.
- Hidy, G.M., B.R. Appel, R.J. Charlson, W.E. Clark, S.K. Friedlander, D.H. Hutchinson,
 T.B. Smith, J. Suder, J.J. Wesolowski, and K.T. Whitby, 1975: Summary of the
 California aerosol characterization experiment. J. Appl. Poll. Climatol. Assoc., 25,
 1106p.
- Klemp, J.B. and R.B. Wilhelmson, 1978a: The simulation of three-dimensional convective storm dynamics. J. Atmos. Sci., 35, 1070-1096.
- Klug, W., P.J.H. Builtjes, H. van Dop, N.D. van Egmond, G. Glaab, D. Gömer, B.J. de Haan, K.D. v.d. Hout, N. Kesseboom, R. Röckle, and C. Veldt, 1985: Comparison between four different inter-regional air pollution models. Chapter 4 of "Inter-regional Air Pollution Modeling: The State of the Art", Plenum Press, New York, 149-273.

Kotamarthi, V.R. and G.R. Carmichael, 1990: The long-range transport of pollutants in the Pacific Rim region. Atmos. Environ., 24A, 1521-1534.

- Kurita, H., K. Sazaki, H. Muroga, H. Ueda, and S. Wakamatsu, 1985: Long-range transport of air pollution under light gradient wind conditions. J. Climatol. Appl. Meteor., 24, 425-434.
- Kurita, H., H. Ueda, and S. Mitsumoto, 1990: Combination of local wind systems under light gradient wind conditions and its contribution to the long-range transport of air pollutants. J. Climatol. Appl. Meteor., 29, 331pp.
- Kurita, H. and H. Ueda, 1986: Meteorological conditions for long-range transport under light gradient winds. Atmos. Environ., 20, 687-694.
- Lindsey III, C.G., 1980: Analysis of coastal wind energy regimes. M.S. Thesis, Department of Environmental Science, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, Virginia.
- Lovett, G.M. and J.D. Kinsman, 1990: Atmospheric pollutant deposition to high-elevation ecosystems. Atmos. Environ., 24A, 2767-2786.
- Lyons, W.A., J.C. Dooley, Jr., and K.T. Whitby, 1978: Satellite detection of long-range pollution transport and sulfate aerosol hazes. Atmos. Environ., 12, 621-631.
- Lyons, W.A., R.A. Pielke, J.L. Eastman, D.A. Moon, C.S. Keen, and N.R. Lincoln, 1990a: Mesoscale numerical model evaluations of the meteorological factors associated with elevated ozone levels in the southern Lake Michigan region. 7th AMS/AWMA Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology, New Orleans, 1990.
- Lyons, W.A., D.A. Moon, J.L. Eastman, and C.S. Keen, 1990b: The meteorological impact of Lake Michigan in causing elevated ozone levels in the lower Lake Michigan air quality control region. In Proceedings Paper 90-79.5, 83rd Annual Meeting, AWMA, Pittsburgh, 1990.

- Lyons, W.A., D.A. Moon, J.L. Eastman, C.S. Keen, M.G. Venne, R.A. Pielke, W.R. Cotton, R.L. Walko, and C.J. Tremback, 1990c: A new approach to predicting dispersion of toxic gas clouds in complex coastal wind fields at Cape Canaveral/Kennedy Space Center. In Proceedings Paper 90-79.5, 83rd Annual Meeting, AWMA, Pittsburgh, 1990.
- Macias, E.S., J.O. Zwicker, and W.H. White, 1981: Regional haze case studies in the southwestern U.S. - II. Source contributions. Atmos. Environ., 15, 1987-1997.
- Mahrer, Y. and R.A. Pielke, 1977: A numerical study of the airflow over irregular terrain. Beitr. Phys. Atmos., 50, 98-113.
- Malm, W.C., K.A. Gebhart, D. Latiner, T. Cahill, R. Eldred, R.A. Pielke, R.A. Stocker, and J. Watson, 1989: Winter haze intensive tracer experiment (WHITEX), Prepared for the U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service.
- Malm, W.C., K.H. Gebhart, and R.C. Henry, 1990: An investigation of the dominant source regions of fire sulfur in the western U.S and their areas of influence. Atmos. Environ., 24A, 3047-3060.
- Martin, D., C. Mithieux, and B. Strauss, 1987: On the use of the synoptic vertical wind component in a transport trajectory model. *Atmos. Environ.*, 18, 537-544.
- McCumber, M.C. and R.A. Pielke, 1981: Simulation of the effects of surface fluxes of heat and moisture in a mesoscale model – Part 1. Soil layer. J. Geophys. Res., 86, 9929-9938.
- McElroy, J.L., 1987: Estimation of pollutant transport and concentration distributions over complex terrain of southern California using airborne lidar. J. Air Poll. Control Assoc., 37, 1046-1051.
- McNider, R.T. and R.A. Pielke, 1981: Diurnal boundary-layer development over sloping terrain. J. Atmos. Sci., 38, 2198-2212.

- McNider, R.T., M.D. Moran, and R.A. Pielke, 1988: Influence of diurnal and inertial boundary-layer oscillations on long-range dispersion. Atmos. Environ., 22, 2445-2462.
- Millán, M.M., M. Martin, J. Plaza, and M. D. Andres, 1990: Atmospheric chemistry in southern Europe: A review of relevant meteorological processes. From the Proceedings of COST Workshop, Field Measurements and their Interpretation, Madrid, Spain, March, 1990.
- Millán, M.M., B. Artiñano, L. Alonso, M. Navazo, and M. Castro, 1991: The effect of meso-scale flows on regional and long-range atmospheric transport in the western Mediterranean area. Atmos. Environ., 25A, 949-963.
- Miller, D.F., D.E. Schorran, T.E. Hoffer, D.P. Rogers, W.S. White, and E.S. Macias, 1990: An analysis of regional haze using tracers of opportunity. J. Air Waste Management Assoc., 40, 757-761.

Mohnen, V.A., 1988: The challenge of acid rain. Scientific American, 259, No. 2, 30pp.

- NAPAP, 1985: Anthropogenic emissions data for the 1985 NAPAP Inventory. U.S. EPA, Report #EPA/600/7-88-022, Air and Energy Engineering Research Laboratory, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina.
- NAS, 1990: Haze in the Grand Canyon: An Evaluation of WHITEX. National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington D.C., ISBN: 0-303-04341-7
- Nochumson, D.H., 1983: Regional air quality in the four corners study region. J. Air Poll. Control Assoc., 33, No. 7 (July).
- Nochumson, D.H. and M.D. Williams, 1984: Copper smelters and atmospheric visibility inthe southwest, seasonal analysis. J. Air Poll. Control Assoc., 34, No. 7 (July), 750-752.

Pack, D.H., G.J. Ferber, J.L. Heffter, K. Telegadas, J.K. Angell, W.H. Hoecker, and L. Machta, 1978: Meteorology of long-range transport. *Atmos. Environ.*, **12**, 425-444.

Persson, C., H. Rodhe, and L.-E. De Geer, 1987: The Chernobyl accident – A meteorological analysis of how radionuclides reached and were deposited in Sweden. *AMBIO*, 16, 20-31.

Pielke, R.A., 1974: A three-dimensional numerical model of the sea breezes over south Florida. Mon. Wea. Rev., 102, 115-134.

Pielke, R.A., 1984: Mesoscale Meteorological Modeling. Academic Press, 612 pp.

- Pielke, R.A., C.-H. Yu, R.W. Arritt, and M. Segal, 1934: Mesoscale air quality under stagnant conditions. Air Pollution Effects on Parks and Wilderness Areas Conference, 20-23 May, Mesa Verde National Park, Colorado.
- Pielke, R.A., M. Segal, R.W. Arritt, C.-H. Yu, and R.T. McNider, 1985: Influence of distant as opposed to local pollution transport on wilderness air quality. *Presented* at the National Wilderness Research Conference, Fort Collins, CO, July 23-25, 1985.
- Pielke, R.A., R.W. Arritt, M. Segal, M.D. Moran, and R.T. McNider, 1987: Mesoscale numerical modeling of pollutant transport in complex terrain. *Bound.-Layer Meteor.*, 41, 59-74.

Pielke, R.A., M. Uliasz, and R.A. Stocker, 1991: Influence of landscape variability on atmospheric dispersion. J. Air and Waste Management, (submitted).

Pudykiewicz, J., R. Benoit, and A. Staniforth, 1985: Preliminary results from a partial LRTAP model based on an existing meteorological forecast model. *Atmosphere-Ocean*, 23, 267-303.

- Reiff, J., G.J. Cats, and C.A. Engeldal, 1988: Boundary layer height and wind analysis for regional air pollution grid-point models. Proceedings of the 16th NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modeling and Its Application, April 6-10, 1987, Plenum Press, New York.
- Reisinger, L.M. and E. Robinson, 1976: Long-distance transport of 2, 4-D. J. Appl. Meteor., 15, 836pp.
- Richardson, L.F., 1922: Weather Prediction By Numerical Process. Cambridge University Press, 236pp.
- Rodriguez, D.J., 1988: Long-range transport: Evaluation of a particle-in-cell model using sources in the U.S. and U.S.S.R. Lawrence-Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, CA, 94550.
- Rogers, D.P. and H.G. Bastable, 1989: The transport of pollutants in southern California. From preprint volume of the Sixth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology, January 30 - February 3, 1989.
- Ruff, R.E., K.C. Nitz, F.L. Ludwig, C.M. Bhumralkar, J.D. Shannon, C.M. Sheih, I.Y. Lee, R. Kumar, and D.J. McNaughton, 1985: Evaluation of three regional air quality models. Atmos. Environ., 19, 1103-1115.
- Schjoldager, J., B. Silverston, and J.E. Hanssen, 1978: On the occurrence of photochemical oxidents at high latitudes. *Atmos. Environ.*, **12**, 2461-2468.
- Scholtz, M.T., B. Wersman, L. Mahrt, and A.D. Christie, 1986: Generation of meteorological data fields for the ADOM Eulerian regional model. Presented at the AMS Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology, November 18-21, 1986. Chapel Hill, N.C.

Seinfeld, J.H., 1883: Atmospheric Diffusion Theory in Advances in Chemical Engineering, 12, J. Wei, K.B. Bishoff, T.B. Drew, and J.H. Seinfeld (Eds.), Academic Press, New York, 209-299.

Seinfeld, J.H., 1986: Air Pollution. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 738pp.

- Segal, M., R.T. McNider, and R.A. Pielke, 1985: Use of a mesoscale primitive equation model in the design of SCCCAMP. ASTeR Report No. 1, 1985, ASTeR Inc., Fort Collins, Colorado 80522.
- Sisterson, D.L. and J.D. Shannon, 1979: The diagnostic atmospheric cross-section experiment (DACSE-I) of MAP3S: 1-10 August, 1977 Part II: Regional Transport of Pollutants, U.S. Department of Energy Publication from Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, IL.
- Sisterson, D.L., V.C. Bowersox, T.P. Meyers, A.R. Olsen, R.J. Vong, 1990: Summary of Deposition Monitoring in North America for the Period 1979-1987. Presented at the 83rd Annual Meeting of the Air and Waste Management Association, June 24-29, 1990.
- Small, M.J., P.J. Samson, and R.J. Marnicio, 1989: Stochastic simulation of meteorological variability for long-range atmospheric transport – I. Dynamic Lagrangian models. Atmos. Environ., 23, 2813-2824.
- Small, M.J., C. Bloyd, G. Keeler, and R.J. Marnicio, 1989: Stochastic simulation of meteorological variability for long-range atmospheric transport - II. Long-term statistical models. Atmos. Environ., 23, 2825-2840. œ Smith, F.B. and R.D. Hunt, 1978: Meteorological aspects of the transport of pollution over long distances. Atmos. Environ., 12, 461-477.

- Smith, T.B., W.D. Saunders, and D.M. Takeuchi, 1984: Application of climatological analysis to minimize air pollution impacts in California. Prepared for California Air Resources Board by Meteorology Research Inc., Canyon Country, CA.
- Sonoma Technology Inc., 1986: Southern California air quality study (SCAQS) suggested program plan, STI Reference 10-95050, 3402 Mendocino Ave., Santa Rosa, CA, 95401.
- Stewart, D.A. and M.K. Liu, 1982: A review of episodic and long-term regional transport models for long-range and intermediate applications. Pub. No. 32137, Systems Applications, Inc., San Rafael, CA.
- Stewart, D.A., R.E. Morris, and M.K. Liu, 1983: Evaluation of long-term regional transport models of interest to the National Park Service. National Park Service, Department of the Interior, Denver, CO 80225.
- Stocker, R.A. and R.A. Pielke, 1990: Source attribution during WHITEX: A modeling study. Transactions of visibility and fine particles, Ed. C.V. Mathai, A & WMA/EPA International Specialty Conference, October, 1989.
- Tremback, C.J. and R. Kessler, 1985: A surface temperature and moisture parameterization for use in mesoscale numerical models. Proc. 7th AMS Conference on Numerical Weather Prediction, June 17-20, Montreal, Quebec, American Meteorological Society, Boston, 355-358.
- Tremback, C.J., G.J. Tripoli, and W.R. Cotton, 1985: A regional scale atmospheric numerical model including explicit moist physics and a hydrostatic time-split scheme. *Proc. 7th AMS Conference. on Numerical Weather Prediction*, June 17-20, Montreal, Quebec, American Meteorological Society, Boston, 433-434.
- Tremback, C.J., G.J. Tripoli, R. Arritt, W.R. Cotton, and R.A. Pielke, 1986: The regional atmospheric modeling system. Proc. Inter. Conference. Development and Applica-

tion of Computer Techniques to Environmental Studies, November, Los Angeles, California, P. Zannetti, Ed., Computational Mechanics Publications, Boston, 601-607.

Trijonis, J., 1989: Visibility in the southwest – an exploration of the historical data base. Atmos. Environ., 13, 833-843.

Trijonis, J. and K. Yuan, 1978: Visibility in the southwest: An exploration of the historical data base. U.S. EPA., EPA-600-3-78-039, Research Triangle Park, N.C.

- Tripoli, G.J. and W.R. Cotton, 1980: A numerical investigation of several factors leading to the observed variable intensity of deep convection over South Florida. J. Appl. Meteor., 19, 1037-1063.
- Tripoli, G.J. and W.R. Cotton, 1981: The use of ice-liquid water potential temperature as a thermodynamic variable in deep atmospheric models. *Mon. Wea. Rev.*, **109**, 1094-1102.
- Tripoli, G.J. and W.R. Cotton, 1982: The Colorado State University three-dimensional cloud/mesoscale model-1982. Part I: General theoretical framework and sensitivity experiments. J. Rech. Atmos., 16, 185-220.
- Tripoli, G.J., 1986: A numerical investigation of an orogenic mesoscale convective system. Atmospheric Science Paper No. 401, Department of Atmospheric Science, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado 80523.

Tripoli, G.J. and W.R. Cotton, 1989a: Numerical solution of the Navier-Stokes equations with topography. J. Comput. Phys., 17, 276-310.

Trivett, N.B.A., L.A. Barrie, J.W. Bottenheim, J.-P. Blanchet, G. den Hartog, R.M.
Hoff, and R.E. Mickle, 1988: An experimental investigation of arctic haze at alert,
N.W.T., March, 1985, Atmosphere-Ocean, 26, 341-376.

- Ulrickson, B.L. and C.F. Mass, 1990a: Numerical investigation of mesoscale circulations over the Los Angeles Basin. Part I: A Verification Study. Mon. Wea. Rev., 118, 2138-2161.
- Ulrickson, B.L. and C.F. Mass, 1990b: Numerical investigation of mesoscale circulations over the Los Angeles Basin. Part II: Synoptic influences and pollutant transport. Mon. Wea. Rev., 118, 2162-2184.
- United States Congress, 1990: Clean Air Act Amendments. 42 U.S.C. 7491, AEZ/110, 101-549.
- van Dop, H. and B.J. de Haan, 1984: Mesoscale air pollution modeling. Atmos. Environ., 18, 545-552.
- van Dop, H., 1986: The CCMS air pollution model intercomparison study. Atmos. Environ., 20, 1261-1271.
- van Dop, H., J.F. den Tonkelaar, and F.E.J. Briffa, 1987: A modeling study of atmospheric transport and photochemistry in the mixed layer during anticyclonic episodes in Europe. Part I: Meteorology and air trajectories. J. Climatol. Appl. Meteor., 26, 1305-1316.
- Voldrer, E.C., L.A. Barrie, and A. Sirors, 1986: A literature review of dry deposition of oxides of sulfur and nitrogen with emphasis on long-range transport modeling in North America. Atmos. Environ., 20, 2101-2123.
- Wakimoto, R.M. and M.G. Wurtele, 1984: Project Basin. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc., 65, 1210-1211.
- Whelpdale, D.M., A. Eliassen, J.N. Galloway, H. Dovland, and J.M. Miller, 1988: The transatlantic transport of sulfur. *Tellus*, 40B, 1-15.

Yamada, T., C.-Y. Kao, and S. Bunker, 1989: Airflow and air quality simulations over the western mountains region with a four-dimensional data assimilation technique. *Atmos. Environ.*, 23, 539-554.

Yu, C.-H. and R.A. Pielke, 1986: Mesoscale air quality under stagnant synoptic cold season conditions in the Lake Powell area. *Atmos. Environ.*, 20, 1751-1762.

is sheet of the Clappines 1995 of examples in Americanselia 45 of Americanselia 45 of Americanselia Americanse

The Hold and Bub So Yang, the concease augusturies much in particular sectors.

Saucense H., L.D. Ser Tenji Saar, and E.D. D. Sele, 1987: A rescaled ready in proceedings reactions in reflate relationships of the mixel layer is the an entropy and employed in 2 and 10 Metrics and are respected as ("Wernal: Apple 1611 or , 28 reactions).

Schner, T.U. T. M. Barme on a more floor A literature and which deposition of a school for and introgen with so using the local conjugation (cool ding to a school for the school of the school of

10 Miles (0.2 Miles - 10 - 10 Miles)

Polemur – bolso and Model Vero Vertier, Speni Paris Paris (and one of the Society S

(25) appliers (2000), an Eliter en (400) - Grouppe fill brocket for and the CEU of Christian term to consider an interaction of the Colling and (2000) 1-15.